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          1  PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  Good

          3  morning.  I am Council Member Helen Diane Foster,

          4  Chair of the Parks Committee.

          5                 As I said, there are six other

          6  committee meetings going on this morning, so members

          7  will be running in and out, but we are going to

          8  start anyway.  And Council Member Addabbo will be

          9  here.  If this meeting runs past twelve, I am

         10  unfortunately going have to leave. We did a schedule

         11  change down at City Hall but no one notified my

         12  district office, so there is a conflict that I could

         13  not reschedule, but hopefully we will be able to

         14  move rapidly, and whatever I miss, I have a staff

         15  person here that will fill me in.

         16                 This oversight hearing will look at

         17  the history of the Central Park Conservancy, its

         18  accomplishments, and its role in maintaining and

         19  improving Central Park.

         20                 This hearing will also explore the

         21  partnership agreement the Conservancy has with the

         22  City of New York and the Parks Department, and with

         23  other various source of funding for the Conservancy.

         24                 This morning I am just not working

         25  well.  My head is moving but my tongue is moving a
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          2  little slow.  So I am not going to read my opening

          3  statement, I am just going to talk.

          4                 Why this is particularly interesting

          5  to me is that I'm interested in understanding better

          6  how the Conservancy works, its relationship with the

          7  Parks Department, and what we can do coming out of

          8  this, this information, to maybe not something as

          9  grand as Central Park, but ideas for planting seeds

         10  in smaller communities with smaller parks to get

         11  that same type of team effort and support between

         12  the Parks Department and the Conservancy.

         13                 So that having been said, let me call

         14  the first panel.  First Deputy Commissioner, Liam

         15  Kavanagh.  Welcome, always good to see you.  And

         16  Doug Blonsky from the Central Park Conservancy.  Now

         17  we have two others from the Central Park, are you

         18  just going to testify, or would you like me to call

         19  them all up at the same time, because we have Ed

         20  Benson and Regina Alvarez?

         21                 MR. ALVAREZ: Yes, if we have time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.  Can we

         23  put more chairs?

         24                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS: How many chairs do

         25  you want?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Two more chairs,

          3  and then we can just switch and we can go at one

          4  time.

          5                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS: Do you want me to

          6  put these microphones on so we can get ready to go?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And don't

          8  worry.  Like, take your time.

          9                 Good morning, and you can introduce

         10  yourself and start in whatever order you'd like.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  Good morning, Chairwoman Foster.  I am Liam

         14  Kavanagh, the First Deputy Parks Commissioner.  I am

         15  here on behalf of Mayor Bloomberg, First Deputy

         16  Mayor Patty Harrison and Parks Commissioner Adrian

         17  Benepe.  And I want to thank you for the opportunity

         18  to discuss the City's flagship park, Central Park,

         19  and our best known public/private partnership with

         20  the Central Park Conservancy.

         21                 The Park we know and love today is

         22  the result of a century and a half of public

         23  campaigns, private sponsorship and the singular

         24  vision of Olmsted and Vaux and our City's first

         25  planners.
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          2                 It has also been shaped by the

          3  thousands of New Yorkers who visit the park every

          4  day, and by those who have put in millions of

          5  volunteer hours there in the park.

          6                 You may remember that Central Park

          7  was not always the jewel that it is today.  Thanks

          8  to the partnership between the City and the Central

          9  Park Conservancy, Central Park has become a true

         10  urban oasis and is a model for urban parks

         11  nationwide.

         12                 The Central Park Conservancy is our

         13  best known public/private partnership.  What they

         14  have done for the City of New York is nothing short

         15  of incredible.

         16                 Over the past two decades, they have

         17  restored Central Park piece by piece, remaining true

         18  to the Olmsted and Vaux's original nineteenth

         19  century design and the restoration continues today.

         20                 Today, I would like to give you a

         21  brief background on Central Park, the advent of the

         22  Central Park Conservancy, and I am joined today by

         23  Doug Blonsky, the Central Park Administrator and the

         24  President of the Conservancy, who will then provide

         25  an overview of the Conservancy's operations.
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          2                 Parks have long held a prominent

          3  place in life of the City. In 1733, Dutch Settlers

          4  needing a place for their lawn bowling created our

          5  first park, Bowling Green, for which they made a

          6  payment in peppercorns and which may have been the

          7  first of the many public/private partnerships.  But

          8  by the mid-nineteen century, it occurred to several

          9  elected officials that soon Manhattan would be

         10  completely bought up and occupied, resulting in one

         11  of the most densely populated cities in the world.

         12                 The solution was to create a park

         13  somewhere in the undeveloped areas which would be

         14  persevered for prosperity as a park.

         15                 In July of 1853, the Legislature

         16  designated a strip of land from 59th to 110th

         17  streets, between Fifth Avenue and Eighth Avenue, as

         18  a site of what would eventually become Central Park.

         19                 In 1853, when New York State

         20  Legislature authorized the City to purchase over 800

         21  acres of land in the middle of Manhattan and build a

         22  great public park.

         23                 In 1856, the City acquired the site

         24  and began clearing the land, and in 1857 the City

         25  announced the design competition for the new park.
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          2  The Greensward Plan proposed by the architect,

          3  Calvert Vaux and Parks Superintendent, Frederick Law

          4  Olmsted, ultimately won the competition in 1858.

          5                 Central Park actually opened in

          6  December of 1858, and construction was completed

          7  approximately 16 years later at a cost of 14 million

          8  dollars, roughly 216 million dollars in today's

          9  dollars.

         10                 Out of the rocky, treeless terrain,

         11  Vaux and Olmsted created a unique park that has

         12  provided enjoyment for millions of people from all

         13  of the world for generations to come.

         14                 The Olmsted era represented the first

         15  great period of park development in New York City.

         16  The second was that of Robert Moses.

         17                 His time of service which began in

         18  the midst of the Great Depression, defined an era in

         19  public development.  He built more than 700

         20  playgrounds, more than a dozen large community pools

         21  and the entire parks throughout the City.

         22                 Under Moses, major redesign and

         23  construction was carried out in Central Park.  The

         24  Croton Reservoir was filled-in so the Great Lawn

         25  could be created, and the Greensward Plan's
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          2  intention of creating a idyllic landscape was

          3  combined with Moses's vision of a park with active

          4  recreation for the construction of 19 playgrounds

          5  and 12 ballfields.

          6                 The end of the Moses's period in New

          7  York City coincided with a new and dramatically

          8  different era in American History. The social

          9  upheaval that followed turned parks into event

         10  spaces and rally grounds and money for parks once

         11  plentiful now seeped away.

         12                 By the late 1970s, parks had

         13  deteriorated to the worse they had ever been.

         14  Central Park was not spared.  It too fell into deep

         15  disrepair.  The lack of a management plan,

         16  unrestricted use and numerous large-scale events

         17  took its toll on the park.  It was just over 30

         18  years ago that Daniel Patrick Moynihan called for

         19  Central Park to be transferred to National Parks

         20  Service to save it from complete collapse.  No one

         21  would consider that solution today.

         22                 Under the leadership of Mayor Koch,

         23  and then Parks Commissioner Gordon Davis, things

         24  began to turn around for the City's Park system.

         25                 At that time, Commissioner Davis
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          2  created the Borough of Commissioners and the Parks

          3  Administrators, which have effectively empowered

          4  local park managers to build direct relationships

          5  with the community.

          6                 In fact, the first Administrator

          7  position created by Gordon Davis was for Central

          8  Park.  The position was filled by Elizabeth Betsy

          9  Barlow Rogers, whose efforts to improve the park in

         10  the wake of a fiscal crisis led to the creations of

         11  the Central Park Conservancy in 1980.

         12                 Its mission was and still is to

         13  restore, manage and preserve Central Park in

         14  partnership with the public for the enjoyment of

         15  present and future generations.

         16                 For the first 13 years, there was no

         17  formal agreement between the Conservancy and the

         18  City.  That changed in 1993, when both parties

         19  signed a Memorandum of Understanding.

         20                 The MOU confirmed the Administrator's

         21  authority to accept gifts on behalf of the park and

         22  to oversee the work of the Conservancy and Park

         23  Department employees in Central Park.

         24                 In 1998, the City and the Conservancy

         25  signed a formal agreement that officially recognizes
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          2  the Conservancy as the organization responsible for

          3  the management of Central Park.

          4                 It represents one of the best deals

          5  in the City's history.  Under the terms of the

          6  contract, the Parks Commissioner has final authority

          7  over all capital projects, maintenance and

          8  operations activities, programs and events in

          9  Central Park.

         10                 You need only to take a stroll

         11  through the park to realize what the central role

         12  the City plays in maintaining the park.  DPR

         13  personnel make up approximately 20 percent of the

         14  parks' staff and the City also operates the police

         15  precinct in Central Park and supports the

         16  maintenance and lighting for the major park drives.

         17                 The Conservancy receives a fee for

         18  its services calculated annually based on a formula

         19  that takes into account Conservancy funds raised and

         20  spent in the park, as well as concession revenues

         21  generated for the City.

         22                 For example, if the Conservancy

         23  raises and expends 5 million dollars on park

         24  maintenance, it receives 1 million dollars for the

         25  City.  For each dollar beyond the first five
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          2  million, the City contributes an additional 50 cents

          3  up to a maximum of an additional 1 million.

          4                 The Conservancy receives additional

          5  funding according to a formula based on the City's

          6  annual net revenues from concessions in the park.

          7                 Under the 1998 Contract, the

          8  Conservancy receives an amount equal to 50 percent

          9  of concession revenue beyond the first 6 million

         10  dollars generated in the park to a maximum of an

         11  additional 2 million dollars.

         12                 And finally, the contract includes

         13  provisions under which it can be terminated by the

         14  Park Commissioner for a variety of circumstances,

         15  including whether or not the Parks Commissioner

         16  believes it is in the best interest of the City to

         17  do so.

         18                 The beauty of our partnership with

         19  the Central Park Conservancy is that they pursue

         20  goals shared by parks, such as the restoration and

         21  programming of public parkland, and yet remain

         22  ultimately accountable to the City, and thus to you.

         23                 In many respects, our partnership

         24  with the Conservancy allows us to have the best of

         25  both worlds.  They provide programs that could not
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          2  have existed, capital and structural improvements

          3  that would not have been made and staff that we

          4  could not always provide while still ensuring

          5  Central Park as a public park.

          6                 The Parks Department remains control

          7  of permitting throughout the park, often turning

          8  down inappropriate events, guiding sponsorship and

          9  limiting signage.

         10                 Central Park would not be the icon it

         11  is today without the support of the Central Park

         12  Conservancy.

         13                 The Conservancy began as an

         14  experiment but today public-private partnerships are

         15  strategic mainstays.  A full 50 percent of our parks

         16  now enjoy the support of "Friends of" groups.  Other

         17  non-profits, such as the Prospect Park Alliance, the

         18  Riverside Park Fund, The Friends of Van Cortlandt

         19  Park, The Unisphere, Inc., and a Historic House

         20  Trust have followed in the steps of the Central Park

         21  Conservancy to bring support to parks in all five

         22  boroughs.

         23                 Most importantly, through the

         24  partnerships between the City and the Conservancy,

         25  Central Park remains true to the vision of Frederick
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          2  Law Olmsted, a great recreational and cultural

          3  resource in the center of the City, a place of

          4  nature and harmony and accessible to people from all

          5  walks of life.

          6                 Doug Blonsky will now give you an

          7  overview of what it takes to maintain Central Park

          8  and discuss the ways of Conservancy as it has begun

          9  to translate its success to other parks throughout

         10  the City.

         11                 Doug.

         12                 MR. BLONSKY:  Thank you very much,

         13  Liam. Councilwoman Foster, thank you very much for

         14  having us here.  It's an honor to be talking today.

         15                 I am Doug Blonsky, President of the

         16  Central Park Conservancy. I am also the Central Park

         17  Administrator, reporting to the Parks Commissioner.

         18  I have worked for the Conservancy since 1985, five

         19  years after its founding, in a variety of

         20  capacities. Prior to be named president in 2004, I

         21  was Chief Operating Officer and I was appointed the

         22  Central Park Administrator in 1998.

         23                 The Central Park Conservancy was

         24  founded in 1980 as a private and not-for-profit

         25  organization to focus attention on the deteriorated
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          2  condition of Central Park, to take action to stem

          3  the parks decline and to supplement and support the

          4  City's efforts to care for Central Park in the

          5  course of the Conservancy's more than 25 year

          6  history during which dramatic decline of previous

          7  decades has been reversed and management excellence

          8  restored to the Park.

          9                 The Conservancy's role has evolved

         10  into that of the organization officially entrusted

         11  with the care of Central Park. Today the

         12  Conservancy's mission is to restore, manage and

         13  preserve Central Park in partnership with the public

         14  for the enjoyment in present and future generations.

         15                 The Conservancy is officially

         16  responsible for the day-to-day maintenance and

         17  operations of the park, including cleaning snow,

         18  clearing debris, landscape maintenance and repairs.

         19  In practice, the Conservancy's management role

         20  extends beyond these services, encompassing in

         21  addition the operation of all four visitor centers

         22  in the Park, provisions of public programs,

         23  coordination and support of special events, and the

         24  design, contract bidding and supervision of all

         25  capital projects.
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          2                 Central Park is 843 acres, which is

          3  six percent of Manhattan's total acreage. It is two

          4  and a half miles long, a half mile wide, six miles

          5  around.  It is a completely artificial landscape, an

          6  artistic composition of meadows, lakes and woodlands

          7  supported by a complex system of underground

          8  infrastructure that transformed the original rocky,

          9  swampy site.

         10                 The unique and fragile landscape

         11  requires intensive management and maintenance in

         12  order to sustain the unparalled and unprecedented

         13  level of use, it accommodates 25 million park users

         14  annually.

         15                 Let me tell you what it takes to take

         16  care of Central Park.  The Park's 250 acres of lawns

         17  are mowed as often as once a week and require

         18  routine irrigation, overseeding, aeration and

         19  fertilization. 26,000 trees are pruned on a

         20  seven-year cycle and regularly monitored and treated

         21  for disease and infection. Seven lakes and ponds

         22  covering the 150 acres are monitored daily for water

         23  quality.

         24                 Visible litter amounting in more than

         25  five million pounds annually is removed by 9:00 a.m.
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          2  each morning and continuously throughout the day by

          3  zone gardeners and by a night and weekend crew.  Any

          4  graffiti is removed within 24 hours.

          5                 Nine-thousand benches, 40 bridges, 21

          6  playgrounds and 58 miles of paths are kept in

          7  constant repair.  Fifty-five monuments, fountains

          8  and sculptures are preserved.  We also re-create and

          9  maintain the dozens of 19th century handcrafted

         10  rustic summerhouses, pergolas, benches, fences and

         11  bridges, which is such a special element of the

         12  original design.

         13                 To provide a high standard of Park

         14  care, the Conservancy implemented an innovative zone

         15  management system.  In the past, roving crews

         16  maintained Central Park traveling where and when

         17  needed.  This lent itself to a lack of performance,

         18  lack of individual accountability and no opportunity

         19  to recognize excellence.

         20                 The zone management system is more

         21  effective and cost effective.  It encourages a

         22  higher level of professionalism and high morale in

         23  both the Conservancy and Parks Department's field

         24  staff.

         25                 Workers entrusted with the care of a
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          2  specific landscape are accountable for its

          3  appearance and become especially knowledgeable about

          4  its needs.

          5                 Under the zone management system,

          6  horticultural care and maintenance is largely

          7  decentralized. The Park is divided for management

          8  purposes into 49 distinct zones, where a full-time

          9  gardener can address all maintenance needs with

         10  seasonal support from part-time workers and

         11  volunteers.

         12                 Parkwide crews support the zone

         13  gardeners in areas requiring special expertise and

         14  equipment including turf care, tree care, soil and

         15  water body management, historic preservation and

         16  monument conservation, mechanical services, pest

         17  control and event management.

         18                 Zone gardeners are also Conservancy

         19  ambassadors who promote the ethic of stewardship to

         20  visitors by answering questions and providing

         21  information.  Their regular presences encourages

         22  park users to adhere to park rules and regulations.

         23                 Since its inception, zone management

         24  has had a noticeable impact on the Parks appearance.

         25  The zone-based approach to organizing staff fosters
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          2  a sense of ownership and pride among the zone

          3  gardeners, as well as the volunteers assigned to

          4  each zone.

          5                 The zone management system has set

          6  new standards of excellence in park care and has

          7  become a model for parks through the nation and the

          8  world.

          9                 An extension of caring for the Park

         10  is managing the nearly 2,000 special events and

         11  3,000 film, television and photo shoots that take

         12  place annually.  From picnics and field trips, to

         13  races and concerts such as the Philharmonic and

         14  Metropolitan performances, the New York City

         15  Marathon and the unique happenings such as the

         16  artist Christo's 16-day installation of "The Gates."

         17                 To do all this, the Conservancy must

         18  maintain a staff of 240 full-time employees plus 36

         19  seasonal employees, supplemented by the 25 to 30

         20  Parks Department employees assigned to Central Park.

         21  Of the Conservancy's personnel, 179 are field staff

         22  directly involved in the day-to-day maintenance and

         23  operations. Another 32 provide program services

         24  through our educational and recreation programs,

         25  visitor centers and volunteer programs.
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          2                 Twenty-nine planners and landscape

          3  architects comprise our design office, and the rest

          4  work in administration, fundraising and

          5  communications.

          6                 Our 3,000 volunteers provide nearly

          7  30,000 hours of work each year in the Park assisting

          8  on horticultural projects, leading free-guided

          9  walking tours, assisting at special events, painting

         10  benches and other projects.

         11                 Today, the Conservancy provides more

         12  than 85 percent of Central Park's annual 25 million

         13  dollar operating budget and is responsible for all

         14  basic care of the Park.

         15                 The majority of the Conservancy's

         16  contributions is raised annually through individual

         17  and corporate gifts, special fundraising events,

         18  foundation grants and membership.

         19                 The Conservancy has approximately

         20  25,000 members who make yearly donations of $35.00

         21  and up.

         22                 In addition, income from a

         23  maintenance endowment established by the Conservancy

         24  helps to offset annual operating costs.

         25                 Since its founding in 1980, the
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          2  Conservancy has raised over 325 million dollars in

          3  private funds which combined with the City's

          4  investment turned Central Park into a living symbol

          5  of New York City's revitalization.

          6                 It is not enough to maintain Central

          7  Park.  It must be constantly improved.  Beginning in

          8  the early 1980s, the Conservancy was engaged in

          9  design efforts and long-term restoration planning,

         10  using a combination of its own staff and

         11  consultants.

         12                 Through this work, the Conservancy

         13  provided the impetus and leadership for several

         14  early restoration projects funded by the City, such

         15  as the restoration of Belvedere Castle, the Dairy

         16  and Sheep Meadow, while at the same time preparing a

         17  comprehensive plan for the rebuilding of Central

         18  Park.

         19                 With the completion of this

         20  management and restoration plan in 1985, titled

         21   "Rebuilding Central Park," the Conservancy launched

         22  its first capital campaign. And from 1986 to 1991,

         23  the Conservancy restored major landscapes, including

         24  Bethesda Terrace, Grand Army Plaza, Shakespeare

         25  Garden and Center Hill.
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          2                 Through the campaign, the Conservancy

          3  assumed increasing responsibility for funding the

          4  comprehensive restoration of the Park, and full

          5  responsibility for designing, bidding and

          6  supervising all capital projects in the Park.

          7                 In 1989, a Use and Security Task Face

          8  recommended the restoration and programming for the

          9  north end of the Park. The results included the

         10  restoration of the Harlem Meer, the northern most

         11  body of water, and the creation of a new visitor

         12  center on the north shore of the Meer at 110th

         13  Street, the Charles A. Dana Discovery Center,

         14  completed in 1993.

         15                 Other restoration projects in the

         16  north end included the Great Hill, the Ravine and

         17  the Conservatory Garden.  Prior to these north end

         18  restorations, there was a social separation between

         19  the upper and lower portion of the Park.  The

         20  restorations created a unified Park experience for

         21  all New Yorkers.

         22                 In 1993, a founding Conservancy

         23  trustee offered a 17 million dollar challenge gift

         24  for additional major landscape restorations,

         25  including the West Side, the Great Lawn and the
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          2  North Meadow.  The Conservancy and the City each

          3  matched this unprecedented gift within three years

          4  through 1996.  The Conservancy went on to raise an

          5  additional 26.2 million dollars towards operating

          6  support and endowment for the ongoing care of the

          7  restored landscapes.  This capital campaign raised a

          8  total of 77.2 million dollars.

          9                 Since 1996, over 30 major capital

         10  projects undertaken by the Conservancy have been

         11  completed.  Some of these are the Model Boat Pond,

         12  the Pond and the surrounding landscapes at the

         13  southeast corner of the Park, the Pool and the

         14  surrounding landscapes at West 102nd Street, the new

         15  Reservoir fence, which closely resembles the

         16  original historic fence.

         17                 The Conservancy is committed to

         18  continuing the long tradition of raising capital

         19  dollars for restoration project.  For example,

         20  privately funded projects now under way are the

         21  restoration of Literary Walk, a 1.5 million dollar

         22  project, also a 30- acre restoration project in the

         23  southwest section of the Park which is underway

         24  currently, which includes the Heckscher Playground

         25  and Heckscher Ballfields, at a cost of seven million
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          2  dollars and currently, too, is a seven million

          3  dollar restoration of the Minton tile ceiling at the

          4  Bethesda Terrace Arcade, to name a few.

          5                 Capital improvements in the Park

          6  undergo public review at each stage of development

          7  with advice and consent from the Commissioner of

          8  Parks and Recreation.  The Conservancy presents its

          9  plan to five Community Boards and the Landmarks

         10  Preservation Commission, Art Commission and also

         11  many local community groups.

         12                 The Conservancy continually strives

         13  to meet the community's needs in the Park.  This

         14  includes regular consultation with a number of user

         15  and advisory groups that work with the Conservancy

         16  on a range of projects and issues such as the

         17  ecology of the woodlands, dog use, as well as

         18  recreation and sports groups like softball leagues

         19  and running clubs.

         20                 The Conservancy also reaches out to

         21  the public by offering programs to take advantage of

         22  the invaluable resources available in Central Park.

         23  Each year the Conservancy provides education

         24  programs in environmental science, recreation

         25  programs for youths, families, community
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          2  organizations, and schools, a volunteer program for

          3  youths and adults in horticulture, free guided

          4  walking tours and continuing education classes for

          5  our volunteers.  Our educational programs reach

          6  20,000 youths per year, many of whom reside in the

          7  neighborhoods surrounding the northern end of the

          8  Park.  The Conservancy also offers free music and

          9  dance programs featuring local artists, and we offer

         10  the popular Central Park Film Festival, an outdoor

         11  summer event, which has been in place since 2003.

         12                 While the Conservancy's primary

         13  mission is the care of Central Park, helping other

         14  parks is a natural extension of that core mission.

         15  By taking a leadership role within the park

         16  community and sharing our expertise, the Conservancy

         17  improves those parks and ultimately the quality of

         18  life for people of New York City, particularly in

         19  communities that have been traditionally

         20  underserved.

         21                 In 2005, the Central Park Conservancy

         22  collaborated with the Parks Department and New

         23  Yorkers for Parks to implement a neighborhood parks

         24  initiative in 35 parks throughout the five boroughs.

         25  The goal is to focus public and private resources on

                                                            26

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  targeted neighborhood parks that are in the most

          3  need, and improve them through capital renovations,

          4  professional maintenance, and landscaping performed

          5  by a fix- post staff.  Through this initiative the

          6  Central Park Conservancy provides training,

          7  management, oversight, equipment, and personnel

          8  support for the underserved parks.

          9                 This year the Central Park

         10  Conservancy will expand on the neighborhood parks

         11  initiative by creating the Historic Harlem Parks

         12  Initiative, which will bring horticultural support

         13  to these four Harlem Parks: Morningside, Jackie

         14  Robinson, St. Nicholas Park and Marcus Garvey Park.

         15                 Turning our attention back to Central

         16  Park, the Park's dramatic deterioration in the 1960s

         17  and 70s reflected the decline and hopelessness that

         18  defined the City in those decades. So, too, the

         19  remarkable turnaround under the Conservancy's

         20  leadership renewed hope for New Yorkers and greatly

         21  contributed to the City's extraordinary recovery.

         22                 We at the Conservancy look forward to

         23  continuing to care for one of New York's most

         24  defining landmarks in partnership with our friends

         25  and City government, for present and future
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          2  generations.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you. We've

          4  been joined by Council Member Addabbo.  Before I get

          5  into the questions, I am going to ask -- I was

          6  actually following your testimony so I didn't

          7  realize that there were pictures.  If you can just

          8  go back through them and tell me what is what.

          9                 MR. BLONSKY:  Sure.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         11                 MR. BLONSKY:  KY:  Do you mind if I

         12  go up --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Sure.

         14                 MR. BLONSKY:  -- And help him out.

         15                 (No longer using the microphone) This

         16  is the Pond on the south end of the Park, which is

         17  on the southeast corner, we did this about three and

         18  a half to four years ago.

         19                 This is the restoration of the Harlem

         20  Meer.  This is the Dana Discovery Center.  We

         21  completed this project in 1993, what was existing

         22  this is very good, to give you a sense of what this

         23  whole northeast corner of the Park looked like prior

         24  to that. It was actually this reason that we did

         25  this restoration.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And could you

          3  tell me, where in the park is this located.

          4                 MR. BLONSKY:  Yes, this is just below

          5  110th Street, this is in the very northeast corner.

          6                 These boathouses sat there for about

          7  30 years.

          8                 This is the dairy which was located

          9  in the center of the park at approximately 64th

         10  Street.  This is our visitor center in the south end

         11  of the park.  This was just used as a maintenance

         12  facility, just for storage in one of the earlier

         13  projects we undertook the restoration.  This is the

         14  restoration of the Dairy.

         15                 This is the Bethesda Terrace in the

         16  center of the Park at 72nd Street. This is really

         17  the heart of the Park.  This is really for the

         18  weekends, this is where there is a lot of activity.

         19  This is Bethesda Angel or Angel on the Water, and we

         20  restored this in 19 -- we finished it in 1987, and

         21  actually we are doing a major restoration now, as I

         22  mentioned, underneath the Bethesda Terrace Arcade we

         23  are restoring the ceiling tiles that were actually

         24  taken down on this restoration and put in storage

         25  and we finally got the rest of the money to do that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And those tiles

          3  are where, when you say underneath?

          4                 MR. BLONSKY:  It is kind of hard to

          5  tell.  This big staircase that goes down here, there

          6  is an arcade underneath here --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, okay.

          8                 DOUG BLONSKY:  -- That actually goes

          9  under 72nd Street.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, okay, okay.

         11                 MR. BLONSKY:  This is the

         12  Conservatory Garden up on 105th Street and Fifth

         13  Avenue. This is one of the first renovation projects

         14  really the Conservancy started undertaking back in

         15  the early 80s under the leadership of Olmsted

         16  (phonetic) who still goes up there every Tuesday and

         17  volunteers.

         18                 Some of the most beautiful parts of

         19  the park are the woodlands and this is the north

         20  woods.  This is probably in the center of the Park

         21  at around 106th and 107th street, but you can see

         22  that everything has decayed out over the years, most

         23  of the boulders collapsed, just trickles of water

         24  came through, in using historic photographs we were

         25  able to re-create the historic cascades that Olmsted
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          2  and Vaux planned for this area of the Park, as well

          3  as dredging this out.  I remember doing this project

          4  clearly that we actually had to dredge out about 12

          5  feet of sediment to get this water body flowing

          6  again.  That's it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Great.  Thank

          8  you.

          9                 I am going to just jump into

         10  questions and everybody can jump in.

         11                 Let me first begin by kind of giving

         12  my thought process in doing this hearing.

         13                 Obviously Central Park is one of the

         14  world's best known parks.  Everybody knows Central

         15  Park, and so, for me, I wanted to understand the

         16  role of the Conservancy and how it effects the

         17  aspect of public open space being run, so-to-speak

         18  privately.  And and this isn't the first time I've

         19  said it, but I am very concerned about what we call

         20  "self-sustaining parks", because we will have

         21  self-sustaining parks in affluent neighborhoods

         22  which one could draw the line that we are doing

         23  privatization of these parks, and then those that

         24  are in less affluent neighborhoods are not therefore

         25  self-sustaining.
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          2                 So, I want to make sure, again, with

          3  Central Park its a different type of animal because

          4  it's so large, it's in the middle of the City, and

          5  it stretches from what one would say is a more

          6  affluent area to a lesser affluent area from the

          7  eastside to the westside.

          8                 So just to get into questions, can

          9  you tell me the contractual relationship between the

         10  Conservancy and the Parks Department and the status

         11  of that contract?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  The

         13  contract clearly establishes the Parks Department

         14  and the Parks Commissioner as having ultimate

         15  authority over the decision-making process in

         16  Central Park, over capital projects, maintenance and

         17  operations, programming and events.

         18                 In fact, the Parks Department still

         19  issues all of the special events permits for

         20  activities that take place in Central Park, as well

         21  as all the ballfield permits.

         22                 The Parks Department, in cooperation

         23  with the Central Park Conservancy, approves capital

         24  projects and has a role in defining, you know, what

         25  type of programming takes place where in the park.
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          2                 However, the Conservancy operates all

          3  of those functions of the Park, and does all of the

          4  design and construction supervision for the capital

          5  projects.

          6                 The initial contract between the City

          7  and the Conservancy has actually expired and is

          8  being renegotiated right now, but it is continued by

          9  mutual agreement that the terms of the first

         10  agreement are still in effect.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So the

         12  relationship is, in fact, an active one, as opposed

         13  to a passive one, with the Parks Department?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  Oh

         15  very much such.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And in terms of

         17  the permits and for ballgames, I mean ballfields or

         18  special events, that comes through the Parks

         19  Department, and then the Parks Department lets the

         20  Conservancy know this is the groups that have been

         21  approved?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  The

         23  permits are issued by the Parks Department.  We work

         24  in concert with the Conservancy.  There is a weekly

         25  meeting to discuss all permit applications and how

                                                            33

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  they can be accommodated in the Park.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  But ultimately

          4  the authority on granting a permit lies with whom?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          6  With the Parks Department.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  With the Parks

          8  Department.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         10  also point out that the Park Inspection Program, the

         11  mechanism we use to access the cleanliness and

         12  structural stability of parks throughout the City,

         13  is also used in Central Park.  All of the

         14  playgrounds, all of the park zones, are subject to

         15  inspections, random inspections by independent

         16  inspectors who apply the same standards that are

         17  applied everywhere else in the City.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So, are there

         19  things -- well I would assume -- well, no, let me

         20  not assume.  Are there things in terms of the

         21  operation with the Conservancy and how they run the

         22  Park that the Parks Department is able to look at

         23  and then implement in other areas of the Park?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Of

         25  the Park System?

                                                            34

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: Of

          4  the Park System.  Yes, and Doug pointed out one of

          5  the prime examples in the Neighborhood Park

          6  Initiative, when Commissioner Davis, whether he

          7  intended to or not, one of the things that he

          8  brought about was some significant management

          9  changes within the Parks Department, and the thrust

         10  of many of those was to fix responsibility down to

         11  the local level or to the lowest level possible, and

         12  that's sort of the basis of the Central Park zone

         13  management concept. They make maintenance

         14  responsibility a local, a local thing, that is the

         15  person, the zone gardeners are responsible for

         16  everything that occurs within that zone. And that's

         17  an important step forward and that is something that

         18  we are trying to adopt through the Neighborhood

         19  Parks Initiative in large neighborhood parks

         20  throughout the City.

         21                 You want somebody to take ownership

         22  to take responsibility, not just for one facet of

         23  park maintenance, like cleaning or graffiti removal,

         24  or even gardening, but to take responsibility for

         25  the entire park or the entire zone of a park.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  When Mr. Blonsky

          3  was reading his testimony, what struck me as

          4  interesting is the high level of maintenance, and

          5  you know, the garbage being removed by 9:00 a.m.,

          6  things that I am sure all of us in other parts of

          7  the City would like our parks to have.  And I

          8  understand with that level of service, you've got

          9  money behind it.  So how much money privately, or I

         10  guess its all private, is raised by the

         11  Conservancy?  And how much of that money is for

         12  maintenance alone?

         13                 MR. BLONSKY:  We have an annual

         14  operating budget about 25 million dollars a year.

         15  The City, through our management agreement, pays us

         16  a fee for service of just under four million

         17  dollars, so that leaves us with about 21 million,

         18  and that's really, in the maintenance of the park

         19  your talking about approximately 16 million dollars.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What other park,

         21  or is there another park in this City that is

         22  comparable size-wise to Center Park?

         23                 Well, let me tell you what I am

         24  trying to ask.

         25                 MR. BLONSKY:  Sure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  We have 16

          3  million towards maintenance, what is comparable the

          4  money that the City puts in a park that's not

          5  Central Park for maintenance?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  That is a very complicated question and I am not

          8  prepared to answer it right now.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  I

         11  will get you a response, though.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Because what I

         13  am interested in finding out is that I don't want to

         14  take anything away from what's being done at Central

         15  Park.

         16                 I do, however, want to make sure

         17  that, you know, and I know that the Commissioner

         18  disagrees with me, but there is a two-tier system of

         19  parks, and how, whether it's real or not is

         20  someone's perception is the reality, and if 16

         21  million is being spent on maintenance for Central

         22  Park, I would be interested to see what we are doing

         23  around the City for other parks that don't have such

         24  a Conservancy, and what we do for maintenance.

         25                 You talked about the contract in the
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          2  process of being renewed.  What are some of the new

          3  terms that we're working on or being negotiated?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  I

          5  am afraid I can't discuss the negotiations at this

          6  hearing.  But I think the basic framework will

          7  remain essentially the same. The City will retain

          8  overall responsibility for the direction of the

          9  Park, the Conservancy will raise private funds to

         10  manage and restore the Park.

         11                 But to get back to your first

         12  question, the basic question, it's very difficult to

         13  draw comparisons between Central Park and any other

         14  park in the system, or any other park in the

         15  country, not only because of its size but because of

         16  its location in the middle of Manhattan.  Its role

         17  as both an economic and tourist draw, it's an

         18  economic magnet, as we saw from The Gates last year,

         19  it drew over four million visitors, and had, you

         20  know, I think it was hundreds of millions of dollars

         21  in ancillary economic benefits to the entire City.

         22                 It has attractions that no other park

         23  in the world has, and Doug listed and showed you

         24  pictures of some of them.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  No, I do
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          2  understand that.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  And

          4  over 25 million visitors a year use Central Park so

          5  comparing --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  That's why I

          7  started with saying -- no, I am not disagreeing with

          8  you, that is why I started with saying it's a whole

          9  different animal.

         10                 My concern, and will continue to be

         11  my concern, is that we are not -- Central Park is

         12  special and everyone knows it is special, it is, you

         13  know, you have trips to Central Park, you don't

         14  necessarily have trips -- well, you don't

         15  necessarily have trips to like Mololy, or for the

         16  next few weeks, McCoombs Dam.

         17                 What I am trying to understand is

         18  that while this is a separate and special animal, we

         19  have different parks coming down the pike where they

         20  are looking to have maybe not as extensive of the

         21  Conservancy, but some type of public/private

         22  arrangement and we have to be very careful in moving

         23  forward, that as I said, we are not creating the

         24  privatization of public land for the purpose of the

         25  more affluent people that can afford to live in
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          2  front of a park and then have it as their kind of

          3  own private backyard.

          4                 So I absolutely understand the

          5  difference, what I am trying to make sure is that

          6  when we talk about maintenance, that there is some

          7  type of consistency across the City, across parks,

          8  no matter what neighborhood or what area, that there

          9  is a consistency in terms of dollars for

         10  maintenance.

         11                 Let me go back to "In Partnership

         12  with the Conservancy."  Is the Commissioner and the

         13  Parks Department responsible for the rules that

         14  govern the parks?

         15                 For example, the Great Lawn, was

         16  that, those decisions about the four and the six

         17  total done by the Parks Commissioner or done by the

         18  Parks Commissioner in consultation with the

         19  Conservancy?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  By

         21  the Parks Commissioner in consultation with the

         22  Conservancy.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So the

         24  Conservancy has a role in the rules that govern

         25  Central Park.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  No.

          3  The rules that govern Central Park are the same that

          4  apply to parks throughout the City.  The case that

          5  you cited, the Great Lawn, you know, the impetus for

          6  the rule change was to preserve the Great Lawn for

          7  the maximum number of people to enjoy for the

          8  longest period of time during any given year.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So for the

         10  other, for example, for other than the Philharmonic

         11  and the Opera that get to use the Lawn, who

         12  ultimately makes the decision, the Parks Department

         13  or the Parks Department in Consultation with?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  The

         15  Parks Department ultimately makes the decision and

         16  we always consult with the Conservancy on major

         17  events in the Park.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  How many, I know

         19  it's in your testimony, but could you just tell me

         20  again how many employees, just give me the break

         21  down of the Conservancy's employees full-time,

         22  part-time and duties.

         23                 MR. BLONSKY:  We have about

         24  approximately 240 full time employees, plus 36

         25  additional seasonals that we bring on.  We also have
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          2  I think we are about 27, I think, Parks Department

          3  employees still assigned to the Park. About 180 of

          4  our staff are in the field directly involved with

          5  day-to-day maintenance and operations.  Another 32

          6  or so are in the public programs, visitors services,

          7  education --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I am sorry, are

          9  you reading from your testimony?

         10                 MR. BLONSKY:  Just picking the same

         11  numbers.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh I was -- can

         13  you just tell me what page you are on and then I can

         14  highlight it.

         15                 MR. BLONSKY:  Sure, eight.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Sorry?

         17                 MR. BLONSKY:  Eight.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I don't have an

         19  eight.  I only have one through five.

         20                 MR. BLONSKY:  Well, mine was blown up

         21  because I can't see.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Three? Okay.

         23  Thank you.  I was like, wow, I'm missing  -- okay, I

         24  see, thank you.

         25                 Now, does the Parks Department have
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          2  Parks people assigned specifically just to work

          3  within Central Park with the Conservancy, or do they

          4  work parallel, like it's not like they are working

          5  under the Conservancy?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  Both.  There are approximately 30 parks employees

          8  who work full-time exclusively in Central Park, and

          9  there are other Park employees who work in Central

         10  Park on an as needed basis. There are crews that

         11  install snow fence for large events, sometimes they

         12  assist with clean-up after large events. There are

         13  trades workers, plumbers, electricians, carpenters,

         14  who do work in Central Park on an as needed basis.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What is the

         16  relationship between the Conservancy, and say the

         17  community boards or, what's the input of what I will

         18  call the lay people in the community in relation to

         19  the Conservancy and making sure their concerns are

         20  heard and so that it's not, you know, so there is a

         21  partnership between, we know there is a partnership

         22  between the Parks Department and the Conservancy,

         23  but equally is important, is the partnership between

         24  the Conservancy and the community?

         25                 MR. BLONSKY:  Right, any major
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          2  project that we do in the park we actually take to

          3  all five of the community boards on the Park, not

          4  just the one that really is responsible for the

          5  whole park and we go to all those community boards

          6  twice.

          7                 We also, though, I think reach out to

          8  the community at large more through a lot of our

          9  advisory groups that we have, that we use either ad

         10  hoc for special situations or ongoing advisory

         11  groups.  We have a very strong dog advisory group to

         12  talk about dog issues in the Park, our Woodland

         13  advisory group that we have been meeting once a

         14  month for the last almost 20 years  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What was the

         16  last advisory group you said?

         17                 MR. BLONSKY:   A dog advisory group

         18  and a Woodlands advisory group.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Woodlands.  I

         20  thought you said a woman's advisory group and I

         21  didn't know -- I was like do we have separate park

         22  issues?

         23                 MR. BLONSKY:  No, Woodlands.  I'll

         24  stay safe with woodlands.  And they talk about

         25  environmental issues and about the wildlife and any
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          2  restoration work we do in these

          3  environmentally-sensitive areas.  We also meet with

          4  different recreational user groups in the park

          5  depending on the season and what sporting events are

          6  taking place.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Can you tell me

          8  the set up of the Conservancy.  You're the

          9  President,, I assume there is a board of trustees

         10  for lack or board of directors, and then your

         11  different advisory boards, how are they made up? Do

         12  you actively find people in the community, or how is

         13  that done?

         14                 MR. BLONSKY:  Well, yes, we have a

         15  board of trustees that I report to but I also report

         16  to the Parks Commissioner as well as being a Central

         17  Park Administrator.

         18                 Our advisory groups actually they are

         19  their own advisory group, they are not a Conservancy

         20  advisory group, but we help coordinate the advisory

         21  groups so they can meet and set up meetings spaces,

         22  but we really -- it's groups that we listen to, to

         23  find out what's going on in the park, and I have a

         24  person that's responsible for coordinating that

         25  effort.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  How are board

          3  members chosen?  And does the Parks Department have

          4  a role or a member on that board?

          5                 MR. BLONSKY:  Yes, the Conservancy --

          6  we have 42 regular trustees, five mayoral appointees

          7  and four ex-officio board members.  I am an

          8  ex-officio board member being the Administrator,

          9  Adrian Benepe is the ex-officio board member being

         10  Parks Commissioner, the Manhattan Borough President

         11  is an ex-officio member, as well as the Women's

         12  Committee of the Conservancy, there is a women's

         13  group.  It's a little --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I did hear that

         15  right this time.

         16                 MR. BLONSKY:  Their precedent is as

         17  an ex-officio. But there are also five mayoral

         18  appointees.  The rest of the trustees from the board

         19  are actually picked from within the board which has

         20  its own nominating committee.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Can you tell me

         22  a little bit about the role that the Conservancy

         23  plays.  And you mentioned it at the end of your

         24  testimony, with working with other traditionally

         25  underserved communities and their parks?

                                                            46

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 MR. BLONSKY: Yes, well last year as I

          3  mentioned we got involved with the collaborations

          4  with Parks Department and New Yorker's for Parks to

          5  create what we call the Neighborhood Park Initiative

          6  which was really targeting parks in all five

          7  boroughs that really needed more attention to try to

          8  bring this concept of zone management to these

          9  parks, and our role specifically involved with the

         10  Neighborhood Parks Initiative was in Central Park we

         11  actually created a training program where for three

         12  weeks, I think we used 35 gardeners last year, was

         13  it?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  30.

         15                 MR. BLONSKY:  Thirty.

         16                 Thirty gardeners last year came in

         17  and did a three week extensive training in Central

         18  Park, in the classroom as well as out in the field,

         19  working alongside our staff. But I think what was

         20  most important about this initiative was that after

         21  the training, we didn't just disappear, we actually

         22  had full-time staff dedicated to visiting these

         23  gardeners out in their parks at least once a week to

         24  make sure they had the proper equipment, the

         25  supplies to help them set up kind of their work
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          2  role, what they were going to be doing over there,

          3  giving them some, kind of mentoring them throughout

          4  the year, and giving them some oversight.

          5                 I am very excited to say that we

          6  thought that was an exceptional initiative, we are

          7  actually doing it again right now and we have the

          8  gardeners back in the Park getting more training and

          9  we are going to add additional parks, as well, so we

         10  are increasing it by, I am not sure what the number

         11  is, but we will increase it.  So we will be above 35

         12  parks.

         13                 But this year also we are going to

         14  undertake what we are calling the Historic Harlem

         15  Parks Initiative, where we are going to take four

         16  Harlem Parks: Historic Morningside, St. Nicholas,

         17  Jackie Robinson, Marcus Garvey, and we are actually

         18  going to develop a crew that is going to go spend,

         19  just safe to say, a week, a month in each one of

         20  these parks.  I, myself and Neil Calvanese, my Vice

         21  President for Operations, met with the community

         22  people as well as the gardeners.  Each one of these

         23  groups has a small Friends group, so we met with

         24  them we walked through the parks, we talked to the

         25  gardeners, Liam's folks were there, to figure out
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          2  what would really help take these parks to the next

          3  level.  And so you know we felt that being close by

          4  in our community having the infrastructure already

          5  set up, it's better for us to try to help do

          6  something like that than have these Friends groups

          7  try to re-create these kind of things, so this is an

          8  initiative that we will be starting in the next

          9  couple of weeks.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you. We

         11  have been joined by Dennis Gallagher from Queens.

         12  You look like you have been out in the sun, Dennis.

         13  As soon as it came out I realize that we may not

         14  have had that much sun so it could have been

         15  aggravation.

         16                 What do you work with -- that's a bad

         17  word -- you know I can hear, I said that's a bad

         18  word, Yankee Stadium.

         19                 Do you work with -- well, you did say

         20  with these parks the Friends Of, but other parks, in

         21  terms of, you know, I don't -- well, let me change

         22  that.  Do you work with other smaller groups in

         23  maybe the model for a Conservancy?  Clearly, I don't

         24  think anybody can duplicate because Central Park is

         25  the different animal, but other smaller parks?
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          2  Especially, I am especially interested in, I won't

          3  say underserved areas, but just less affluent areas,

          4  in terms of maybe a structure on how to run a

          5  Friends Of, and hopefully years down the line

          6  eventually getting to a point where they can do

          7  their own Conservancy or something to that type?

          8                 MR. BLONSKY:  Yes, without knowing,

          9  remembering which specific ones, I have met with

         10  dozens of these different parks groups throughout

         11  the City, and come in and get advice about how to

         12  set up a Friends group or what kind of structure you

         13  could do. So, I mean, we would love to be able to

         14  help more on that, if we can, but it's been kind of

         15  ad hoc, it hasn't been consistent but dozens of

         16  parks groups.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  And

         18  I just want to add that is one of the premises of

         19  the Neighborhood Park Initiative, our Partnership

         20  for Parks Program specifically works with the

         21  assistant gardeners in the neighborhood parks to

         22  create, you know, a volunteer based, to set, to

         23  basically plant the seeds for a Friends group that

         24  ultimately will, we hope, will take an ownership

         25  interest in the park.  And as you said, no one is
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          2  ever going to replicate the Central Park

          3  Conservancy, but to adopt some of those same ideas

          4  to get people into the park, using it in a positive

          5  way, viewing the park as a resource, all of those

          6  things contribute to a healthier park.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Are the

          8  agreements with Prospect Park, Battery Park and

          9  Bryant Park similar to the agreement with the

         10  Conservancy, or again totally different animal?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         12  It's completely different. There is a management

         13  agreement with the Bryant Park Restoration

         14  Corporation that dates from the 1980s that does give

         15  them responsibility for maintenance and management

         16  of the park.  There is oversight by the Parks

         17  Commissioner, as well, and they are entitled to

         18  receive funds from the concessions in the Park to

         19  help operate the park.

         20                 The Prospect Park Alliance, however,

         21  does not have a management agreement.  There are

         22  only two others in the City, one of which is the

         23  34th Street Partnership to maintain Herald and

         24  Greeley Squares at 34th Street, and with the

         25  Randall's Island Sports Foundation to manage the
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          2  restoration and maintenance of Randall's Island.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  How would you

          4  describe the relationship between the community

          5  boards and the Conservancy.

          6                 MR. BLONSKY:  I think we have a very

          7  strong relationship with them.  I mean, we meet with

          8  them for all our major projects, and also meet with

          9  them for just discussing issues in the Park.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Does the

         11  Conservancy and the Parks Department determine the

         12  priorities for restorations so on?  Or is it

         13  community driven, or is it if you have a donor who

         14  says I want to give blah-blah millions to do this,

         15  if you match it; how are priorities?

         16                 MR. BLONSKY:  Well, it really started

         17  from the 1984 Management and Restoration Plan that

         18  Betsy Barlow-Rogers developed in the first four to

         19  five years of the Conservancy's existence and we

         20  have kind of used that as the guiding light for the

         21  restoration over the next 20 years.

         22                 So if a donor comes to us and wants

         23  to do a project, if it's not a project that needs to

         24  be done, we won't do it, so.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right. I was
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          2  sitting here wondering how much.  Maybe what we can

          3  do is better promote the Conservancy to, in the

          4  sense that, like I know have a monthly meeting in my

          5  office with Friends Of the Parks, and the

          6  information is out there, you or whomever from the

          7  Conservancy, but sometimes there is a disconnect

          8  that you think Central Park, or you don't think,

          9  from the Bronx we don't think of Central Park as

         10  something that we can benefit from.

         11                 So I would be interested in, number

         12  one, and we have talked about it for awhile, but

         13  number one, really scheduling a time to kind of do a

         14  walk through and get a better understanding because,

         15  you know, being a Bronx Girl, Central Park -- I went

         16  to Central Park actually, I went to elementary

         17  school at Nightingale, so all of our field trips and

         18  stuff were to the park, but that was a few moons

         19  ago.

         20                 But I would be very interested in

         21  doing a walk through so I get a better visual

         22  understanding, because often as I said, a person's

         23  perception is the reality so it looks as though

         24  you've got this great thing, and obviously, there is

         25  information to share.
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          2                 I am going to pass over to Council

          3  Member Addabbo who has questions.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.  And I appreciate having this hearing,

          6  and to this panel I appreciate their time and

          7  testimony today.

          8                 Just looking over your testimony, Mr.

          9  Blonsky, the Central Park Conservancy has been

         10  around since 1980?

         11                 MR. BLONSKY:  Yes, sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Is that

         13  continuous 1980? Was the Conservancy ever not around

         14  and then reformed or was that consistent since 1980,

         15  or since 1980?

         16                 MR. BLONSKY:  No, I mean it was

         17  formally created in 1980 and it's been here since.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Okay. Does

         19  the Conservancy have a spot, again, if I ask a

         20  question that may have been covered earlier, I

         21  apologize because I was running late, so I do

         22  apologize, but does the Conservancy have a spot of

         23  space, does it lease space on the property of

         24  Central Park in Central Park?

         25                 MR. BLONSKY:  Well, we have offices
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          2  throughout the Park.  We actually have to rent space

          3  at 60th Street just between Fifth and Madison for

          4  our Administrative Offices.  But you know our

          5  Operations Staff is at the 79th Street Yard over on

          6  the Westside at 79th Street and that is where all

          7  the horticultural and operations people work out of,

          8  and we do have some space that the City provides for

          9  us up at 104th and Fifth Avenue.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Do you pay

         11  to the areas that you rent or are occupied on Parks

         12  property, do you have a Lease Agreement with the

         13  Parks Department?  Is it given to you?  How is that

         14  property arrangement worked out?

         15                 MR. BLONSKY:  I think that just kind

         16  of evolved over a period of time, but there is no

         17  Lease Agreement for those spaces.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And these

         19  spaces that you have on Parks property are they,

         20  they are strictly working spaces, are they office

         21  spaces, or are they strictly supplies and other

         22  materials?

         23                 MR. BLONSKY:  Everything on Park

         24  property is really working spaces.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  What is the
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          2  role that the Central Park Conservancy plays, along

          3  with the concessions at Central Park?

          4                 Do you have a say in those

          5  concessions?  Is there a monetary -- is there, I am

          6  sorry --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I said that is a

          8  good question.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Oh, thank

         10  you. You broke my chain of concentration.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Sorry.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I am just

         13  kidding.

         14                 What is the role between the

         15  concessions in Central Park and the Conservancy and

         16  the Parks Department?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  The

         18  concessions are managed by the Parks Department.  We

         19  issue a requests RFPs, Request for Proposals, and we

         20  actually empower concessionaires to operate in the

         21  Park.  We would not do it -- we would not offer

         22  something that the Conservancy was not comfortable

         23  with offering, but it is the City's responsibility

         24  to manage those concessions.  All the revenue from

         25  the concessions goes to the City's general fund.
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          2  None of it stays directly in the Park. There is a

          3  provision in the agreement between the City and the

          4  Central Park Conservancy under which the Conservancy

          5  receives payments for concession revenues in excess

          6  of six million dollars up to a specific cap.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  So the

          8  Conservancy is consulted to an extent regarding the

          9  concessions, and then can you just in detail again

         10  repeat that last part regarding above the six

         11  million.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  Concession revenues that are above the six-million

         14  dollar cap, the Conservancy is entitled to I think

         15  half of the amount raised above six million dollars

         16  up to a total of two million dollars.  Okay.

         17                 MR. BLONSKY:  It's a formula though,

         18  I am sorry, its not actual --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  It sounds

         20  it, right.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  It's not concession revenue, its a payment that the

         23  City makes to the Conservancy based on the increase

         24  in concession.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  So the
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          2  better that the concessions do, obviously the Parks

          3  will benefit or actually the City benefits because

          4  it is a general fund, but the Conservancy benefits

          5  up to two million dollars?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  So the

          9  Conservancy in a nutshell, I am trying to figure out

         10  where they get their funding from, private donors,

         11  they do get a portion from the Parks Department,

         12  correct, through the budget? And of course then

         13  through the concessions up to two million dollars?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         15  Yes.

         16                 MR. BLONSKY:  But the total we can

         17  get from the City is four million dollar payment.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: That's max.

         19                 MR. BLONSKY:  That's max.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Okay, how

         23  much of that money coming in for the Conservancy is

         24  administrative costs? If you want to do it by

         25  percentage or dollar amount, either one, but of that
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          2  money that you get in, take in annually, how much of

          3  that is administrative costs, salaries and so forth?

          4                 MR. BLONSKY:  Well, I mean you can't

          5  say salaries because we actually field all of the

          6  people that work and most of the people that work in

          7  the Park.  But if you want to look at say

          8  fundraising costs, because everything else is

          9  really, you know, being kind of pumped back into the

         10  Park or directly Park related. It's about 2.6

         11  million dollars, I think in fundraising costs to

         12  raise around 21 million dollars.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I think

         14  that's it for now. Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         16  Council Member Gallagher do you have questions?

         17  Wait, I just lost my question.

         18                 Something Council Member Addabbo said

         19  made me think of a question, and I can't remember

         20  what it was.

         21                 Thank you.  Okay, while I'm thinking

         22  I'll just ask a basic question.  Is it in the

         23  Conservancy's budget for the training of gardeners,

         24  pruners and other maintenance-related workers, or do

         25  you get those services from the Parks Department?
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          2                 MR. BLONSKY:  Both.  We do get

          3  services from the Parks Department but we do have

          4  our own training programs that we develop in the

          5  Park that we also share with the Parks Department,

          6  as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And I would

          8  assume, just so I understand the day-to- day

          9  operations in terms of who goes where and what part

         10  of the Park is serviced and so on, is done daily by

         11  the Conservancy?

         12                 MR. BLONSKY:  Yes, it is.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         14                 Can you introduce the two other

         15  people at the table and tell me their roles, that

         16  wasn't my question either, I am just trying to think

         17  of things to see if it comes back.

         18                 MR. BLONSKY:  To my right is Ed

         19  Benson, who used to be the Director of Government in

         20  Community Relations for the Park, and now he is the

         21  Director of Preservation and what do we --

         22                 MR. BENSON:  Parkwide Services.

         23                 MR. BLONSKY:  Parkwide Services.  And

         24  Regina Alvarez, to my left, is the Supervisor in the

         25  Park that actually oversees one of the sections,
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          2  Section Three, but she also oversees all of the

          3  natural areas in the Park, the Rambal and the

          4  Northwoods.  Regina is our resident ecologist and

          5  environmentalist and they both have been with us for

          6  quite awhile.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Great. I believe

          8  somewhere in your testimony, let me see, we talked

          9   -- yes, you talk about events, I mean programs that

         10  are open to the public to take advantage of any

         11  invaluable resources. Can you tell me a little about

         12  those programs?

         13                 MR. BLONSKY:  Yes.  We have

         14  programming going out several of the visitor centers

         15  in the Park, the Belvedere Castle at 79th Street in

         16  the center of the Park, the North Meadow Recreation

         17  Center, which is at 96th Street in the center of the

         18  Park, and up at the Dana Discovery Center, which is

         19  just below 110th Street.

         20                 The North Meadow is focused around

         21  recreation.  You can go there on any weekend and we

         22  have Yoga, Tai Chi, basketball programs.

         23                 Out of the Belvedere Castle we have a

         24  lot of educational programs dealing with wildlife

         25  and the Ramble and birding.  We do a lot of school
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          2  groups that come into the Park that we work with to

          3  talk about environmental science.  We do a lot of

          4  leadership training with children on the weekends

          5  where kids come in with their families.  They have

          6  been with us for years and it's about mentoring and

          7  leadership and after school activities.

          8                 We do service about 20,000 children a

          9  year through all of our programs. We work with a lot

         10  of the school groups in the north end of the Park

         11  and this is an area that just keeps growing for us.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Do you have a

         13  relationship with the Board of Education in terms of

         14  those programs, or is just with the individual

         15  schools?

         16                 MR. BLONSKY:  It's with the

         17  individual schools.  We don't have a formal

         18  relationship with the Board of Ed, No.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And lastly, and

         20  none of these are the question that I can't

         21  remember, your board members, are they made of

         22  people living around the park?  Or what is their

         23  relationship to the Park, other than being on the

         24  board?

         25                 MR. BLONSKY:  It's various.  I mean,
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          2  we obviously like board members to like the Park and

          3  use the Park, but that's not all of them. I mean

          4  they all like the Park.  But there are a lot of

          5  folks that don't necessarily live directly around

          6  the community of Central Park.  Most of them are

          7  business leaders in the City.  But there is a real

          8  variety of why people are on the Board.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, thank you

         10  very much.  I am going to ask, I don't know -- I

         11  know that whomever can stay as we keep on with the

         12  questioning, and then maybe the question will come

         13  to me that I was going to ask.  And it was a good

         14  one, but I just can't remember what it is right now.

         15  So, thank you very much. Our next panel.

         16                 MR. BLONSKY: Council Member Foster,

         17  would you like Regina or Ed to say a few words, I

         18  mean they just --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Absolutely,

         20  thank you. They can tell us what they do.

         21  Especially Ed, since you didn't remember his title.

         22                 MR. BLONSKY:  That's because he was

         23  recently promoted.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Well,

         25  Congratulations.
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          2                 MR. BENSON:  Thank you.  Hi.  Good

          3  morning.  Hello, my name is Ed Benson, I am the

          4  Director of Parkwide Services for the Central Park

          5  Conservancy. I have held this position for little

          6  less than a year and prior to that I was the

          7  Director for Government and Community Relations.  As

          8  the Director for Government and Community Relations,

          9  well first of all, Director of Parkwide Services

         10  that includes, I would like to describe it as

         11  maintaining everything in the Park that's not green.

         12  So, it's facility maintenance, restrooms,

         13  maintenance of playground equipment, repairing

         14  benches, pathways, infrastructure, clearing out

         15  catch basins, just everything in the Park that is

         16  not naturally green.

         17                 As Director for Government and

         18  Community Relations, I believe we had, we still do,

         19  I think I helped develop that, a very good

         20  relationship with Community Boards.  Because I am

         21  very sensitive to that because I used to be a

         22  District Manager of Community Board Eight in

         23  Manhattan and I also worked at Community Board Seven

         24  on the Upper West Side. So that is a very important

         25  relationship to the Conservancy.
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          2                 Also, with the local Council members,

          3  I have a relationship with Council Member Gale

          4  Brewer and Phil Reed when he was a Council member,

          5  if there was a problem in her district, Gale would

          6  call me directly. So that is a very important

          7  relationship that we try to maintain at the

          8  Conservancy.

          9                 But as Director of Government and

         10  Community Relations, I have had the opportunity to

         11  interact with a variety of people that use Central

         12  Park, whether it's dog owners, softball and baseball

         13  players, dance skaters, lawn bowlers, runners,

         14  cyclists, and mothers and children in playgrounds,

         15  and the one thing that they had in common was that

         16  how much they appreciated Central Park.

         17                 They would compliment me on how great

         18  the Park looks, and it was like I was the one

         19  picking up the garbage or repairing the benches, or

         20  planting the bulbs.  But I would always give credit

         21  to the staff that starts their days at 7:00 a.m. to

         22  make sure the park look the way it does, and I

         23  believe the Central Park Conservancy has made that

         24  possible.

         25                 The Conservancy has created an
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          2  environment where the staff takes pride how the Park

          3  looks and how it feels and feel that they are part

          4  of something special.  I believe the Conservancy has

          5  given them an opportunity to use their skills in

          6  carpentry, stone masonry, and horticulture to

          7  restore and maintain Central Park. The staff itself

          8  is really something special.  The staff consists of

          9  people from you know pretty much all over the world,

         10  Cambodia, The Dominican Republic, Vietnam, Great

         11  Britain and the Bronx, and they have that common

         12  goal and that's to provide a fun, safe environment

         13  for all New Yorkers and the millions of visitors we

         14  have.

         15                 Over the past 25 years, the

         16  Conservancy has done a tremendous job in returning

         17  to New York one of its greatest assets. Thank you.

         18                 MS. ALVAREZ: Good morning.  My name

         19  is Regina Alvarez, and I am the Woodland Manager for

         20  Central Park Conservancy, so I work for the

         21  Department that does all the naturally green stuff

         22  in the Park.  I began working for the Conservancy in

         23  1993 when I was hired as a Seasonal Grounds

         24  Technician.  In December of the same year, I became

         25  a zone gardener.  In 1996, I was promoted to Section
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          2  Supervisor, and in 2000 I became the Woodland

          3  Manager, which is the position I still hold today,

          4  actually I still hold the Section Supervisor

          5  position, too.

          6                 Having been with the Conservancy for

          7  the past 13 years, I have seen how our work has

          8  impacted the Park. I was born and raised in

          9  Manhattan, so I remember how rundown and unsafe the

         10  Park was in the days before the Conservancy. I began

         11  working in the Park at the beginnings of our zone

         12  management system, and I have watched how the system

         13  has worked to make the Park as clean and safe and as

         14  beautiful as it is today.  As Doug. has said, the

         15  Park is divided into zones each of which is cared

         16  for by a zone gardener, and the zone gardeners have

         17  the help of parkwide crews such as our turf care

         18  crew, tree care, graffiti removal, bench repair and

         19  so on, but it is really is the zone gardener that is

         20  out there every day walking the site, picking up the

         21  litter, fixing the fences, caring for all the

         22  plants, and really seeing where all the problems

         23  are, and anything they can't take care of, then we

         24  call in the parkwide crews.

         25                 But one of the biggest things that we
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          2  do, that I think is one of the most important

          3  aspects of our job is the interaction with the

          4  public.  Thousands of people use the park every day,

          5  and many of them are regular visitors that we get to

          6  know, we know a lot of them by name, all of them

          7  know us by name. They see the work that we do every

          8  day and they ask us a lot of questions. Why is this

          9  area fenced off? Why was that tree cut down? What

         10  are you planting? And so on. So one of the important

         11  things that we do is explain to them what we are

         12  doing. And over the years this dialogue has helped

         13  us to do our job better by instilling a sense of

         14  stewardship amongst our regulars, as we call them.

         15  They have come to trust the work that we do.  They

         16  see the improvement in the Park over the years, and

         17  they talk to other people and they pass along that

         18  information so it kinds of snowballs, and you know

         19  they get to get other people to help us care for the

         20  Park.

         21                 As Ed said, the people that work for

         22  the Conservancy I think are an amazing group of

         23  people. We all really love the work that we do and

         24  we care for the Park.  It is a very dedicated group

         25  of people and many of us have worked together for
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          2  years.  I worked there, there are a lot of people in

          3  the park that I have worked with since my days as a

          4  seasonal 13 years ago, and for me it's like a second

          5  family.  And we are a group comprised of people of

          6  many different cultures and countries as Ed said, on

          7  my crew alone, which is 11 permanent staff members,

          8  we have people from Vietnam, Cambodia, Ghana, South

          9  America, the Caribbean, and United States, of

         10  course.

         11                 The other thing is though that we

         12  also represent all levels of education.  People that

         13  just have a GED, all the way up to college graduates

         14  and some who have graduate degrees.  But regardless

         15  of one's education level, the Conservancy does a lot

         16  of in- house training and really looks to the in-

         17  house staff when new positions open up.  As you can

         18  see from you know judging by myself, I started as a

         19  Seasonal and worked my way up to Woodland Manager.

         20  So many of us began our careers in the Park as

         21  seasonals and have been promoted up the ranks

         22  through zone gardener, fore persons, supervisors,

         23  directors and even vice presidents.

         24                 What we all have in common is our

         25  love for the Park and our goal to continue to make
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          2  the Park clean, and safe and beautiful for the

          3  millions of visitors we get each year.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  How

          5  many zones are there?

          6                 MS. ALVAREZ:  Approximately 49.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Forty-nine

          8  zones?

          9                 MS. ALVAREZ:  Forty-nine

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Wow.  What makes

         11  up a zone?

         12                 MS. ALVAREZ:  It really -- it varies.

         13    We didn't just put like a grid over the Park and

         14  divide it up, it varies on the geography of each

         15  area and the usage of each area. So for instance,

         16  the zone I had was the Conservatory Water Area where

         17  the Model Sailboat is and the Alice in Wonderland

         18  and Hans Christian Anderson Statue.  The borders can

         19  be like Fifth Avenue and the East Drive and then

         20  maybe a couple of the entrances of the Park,

         21  whatever makes sense.  I mean one of the nice things

         22  about the Park is that there are so many different

         23  areas that have kind of different personalities, so

         24  my area had you know the Model Sailboat Pond, the

         25  next area over was Cedar Hill which are these big
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          2  beautiful lawns, and the sledding hill and things

          3  like that, so it depends on the geography.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And does each

          5  zone have a green person in charge?

          6                 MS. ALVAREZ:  Zone gardener. Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes, that's the

          8  word. Thank you.

          9                 MS. ALVAREZ:  When I first started

         10  when I was a zone gardener we hadn't, you know, not

         11  all of the zones were covered with zone gardeners

         12  but we do have that now.  Every zone has its own

         13  zone gardener. Many of the zones have seasonal help,

         14  we get 36 or 37 seasonals a year.  So almost all of

         15  the zones have a seasonal.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And Mr. Benson,

         17  do you see the -- you are no longer with

         18  Governmental Relations, but do you see that same

         19  connection, in terms of not just elected officials,

         20  but with the community and the Conservancy.

         21                 MR. BENSON:  Yes, absolutely.  When I

         22  left the position I was replaced by a person who I

         23  have been sort of training and turning over and

         24  sharing my knowledge with who to contact and who

         25  should contact you and those kinds of things, so we
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          2  kept it going, we haven't just dropped the ball --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right.

          4                 MR. BENSON:  -- Because I left.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  But you do see a

          6  relationship between the Community, I mean coming

          7  from Community Board Eight you said, and then seven,

          8  that continued relationship with the community via

          9  the community boards and the --

         10                 MS. BENSON:  Oh absolutely.

         11  Absolutely.  That hasn't stopped at all.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay great.

         13  Thank you very much.

         14                 MS. BENSON:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Our next panel

         16  will be Anne Emerman, Christian DiPalermo and Diedre

         17  Hammel.

         18                 MS. HAMLIN: Hamlin.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Hamlin, I am

         20  sorry.

         21                 You can start in any order you would

         22  like. Thank you.

         23                 ANNE EMERMAN:  Good Morning.  My name

         24  is Anne Emerman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Good Morning.
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          2                 ANNE EMERMAN:  And I am speaking here

          3  for Disabled in Action and the New York City Chapter

          4  of Gray Panthers.

          5                 Competing interests between

          6  businesses and the social good in all of the

          7  boroughs often involved the parks and public spaces.

          8                 Parks are the bargaining chips and

          9  corporate interests are winning out.  The people in

         10  the South Bronx lost their battle and 22 acres of

         11  parkland.  Government brokered the deal.

         12                 Thank you, Council Member Foster, for

         13  having the political courage and the integrity to

         14  stand with the people in the South Bronx.

         15                 Development could have been planned

         16  in such a way to benefit all interests and preserve

         17  the parks.  The deal is a land grab and the

         18  community's children and youth, elderly

         19  grandparents, family members with disabilities,

         20  unable to easily travel to another park are the big

         21  losers.  The taking of two Bronx parks is in line

         22  with a growing trend of privatization of public

         23  spaces.

         24                 On March 16th, Commissioner Benepe

         25  and this Chamber of City Hall, said that parks and
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          2  green spaces raise property values, encourage

          3  tourism, create business opportunities.  With

          4  greater frequency, corporations and institutions are

          5  funding redesign of local parks.  Gates are

          6  installed or heightened and traditional usage, hours

          7  and programs change.  Parks close for private events

          8  and end up becoming a private green lobby.

          9                 I am going to skip down to the last

         10  paragraph and come back to the next one.  Although

         11  sporadic, the Conservancy has a better record of

         12  involving the disability community in the planning

         13  process of capital projects.  The Central Park

         14  Conservancy did reach out to the disability

         15  community for the renovation of the Great Lawn and

         16  Turtle Pond. The outcome was mostly satisfactory, as

         17  were the renovations of the Central Park Harlem Meer

         18  walkways, the Dana Discovery Center, a playground in

         19  the East 90s, and the ramps to the Conservancy

         20  Garden Fountains.  Yet with greater frequency the

         21  public is excluded from the park for private events.

         22  The Conservancy Gardens is a favorite venue for late

         23  afternoons summer weddings, and the public must

         24  leave.  I can't tell you how many times I have been

         25  asked to leave along with other members of the
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          2  public for private events.  Tents are erected for

          3  corporate events and park areas are off limit to the

          4  public for days or for weeks.

          5                 The Central Park Conservancy failed

          6  to respond to request from disability advocates to

          7  include information about accessible comfort

          8  stations and the steep pathways on its 2003

          9  Centennial map.  The Bronx Zoo has such a map, and

         10  Prospect Park is working on one.  Department of

         11  Parks and Recreation boasts of having special

         12  programs for senior citizens, teenagers,

         13  preschoolers, the disabled and the homeless, but to

         14  date, and I have it somewhere here, their annual

         15  schedule of public events, here it is, this one goes

         16  back a couple of years, but to my knowledge they

         17  still don't include accessible symbols on these

         18  public schedules.

         19                 I am going to go back to the other

         20  paragraph because I think it is indicative of what's

         21  coming up. Changing a park's design, changes its

         22  usage and constituents another kind of taking. For

         23  example, the proposed redesign of Washington Square

         24  Park appears to be a seven million design folly to

         25  please an institution's sight lines, and to honor
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          2  corporate funders.  The plaza and the fountain would

          3  be raised and moved from the center of the Park to

          4  line up with the Fifth Avenue and the Arch.  The

          5  funding could be better spent to renovate the long

          6  neglected playgrounds, comfort stations, broken

          7  pathways, without the destroying the bohemian

          8  freewheeling character of this historic park.

          9                 DIA urges the Council to link park

         10  funding to policies that protect and promote

         11  community usage and compliance with accessibility

         12  laws.  The disability community has been waiting for

         13  a clear path route from City Hall from the Broadway

         14  entrance four years.

         15                 I have been back and forth because I

         16  want to testify at the Transportation Hearing over

         17  there.  We get promises but no access.  So access

         18  now. Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         20                 MS. HAMLIN:  My name is Diedre

         21  Hamlin, and I am a resident of the Central Park

         22  North Area, and I am here with Ms. Betty Jean Miller

         23  who is the Dean of Community Activist in our

         24  neighborhood and another dear friend, Ms. Eva

         25  Tompkins.  I represent the Malcolm X Plaza Community
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          2  Coalition which came together for a variance fight,

          3  but after we won that, which was something that was

          4  a great victory for us, we are now trying to be the

          5  care takers of Malcolm X Plaza which is a much

          6  smaller park right on the periphery of Central Park.

          7  And the one thing that I want to say about the

          8  Conservancy --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Excuse me, where

         10  is it located?

         11                 DIEDRE HAMLIN:  It's located at 110th

         12  Street and Lennox Avenue which is right at the

         13  entrance of Central Park North.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         15                 DIEDRE HAMLIN:  And Ms. Miller

         16  represents the Harlem Gateway Committee and they

         17  have been the gatekeepers of Harlem for several

         18  decades.  And another thing that we do we represent

         19  the boards of several newly coopted buildings we are

         20  on their management teams, we are on their boards.

         21  We also belong to the block associations and

         22  organizations like that in our neighborhood. And the

         23  one thing that I do want to say is that the Central

         24  Park Conservancy has involved us a great deal.

         25  Several years ago the North End of the Park was just
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          2  the Ghetto of the Park it was just horrible.  During

          3  I believe it was the Dinkins' Administration a lot

          4  of money was put into the Harlem Meer and that area,

          5  and I believe that was one of the sparks that

          6  sparked the revitalization of our neighborhood.

          7                 Now we are having a great growth of

          8  development that didn't happen before, and I think

          9  it began to happen, I think the parks were

         10  definitely a part of helping that to happen.  But I

         11  think some of the things that they do are more

         12  intangible.

         13                 We start our mornings, most of the

         14  time, in the Park. We have a community that has a

         15  lot of health problems and we start in the morning

         16  walking around the Meer. We've all strolled our

         17  grandchildren through the Conservancy Parks.  We

         18  have seen the Park uplifted on the northern end to a

         19  great, great detail, a lot more money has been spent

         20  there than has been in the past, and I believe that

         21  we have been involved in the development of the

         22  northern end of the Park.  We're often there for the

         23  activities, we helped to plan the Christmas

         24  activity, the pumpkin float at Halloween, we've been

         25  involved with -- when we have problems we are able
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          2  to get on the phone with Mr. Blonsky.  We're able to

          3  get on the phone with Mr. Reddick, who has helped us

          4  acquire trees for our neighborhood, which is greatly

          5  hampered by the high rate of asthma that we have, so

          6  we partner with the Park in that way to get trees

          7  for the streets and around the schools, and whatever

          8  to help those health concerns.

          9                 And in terms of helping a smaller

         10  park, the Malcolm X Plaza is a Park that is in the

         11  process of being completed.  It's not completed.

         12  And we've relied a lot on the Park to help us in

         13  terms of planning for the trees that need to be

         14  there, pruning, cutting. At one point we had our

         15  little space was clogged with garbage, people

         16  sleeping there at night, and we had just become a

         17  ghetto, you know, right in our midst, in the midst

         18  of all this development and community condominiums,

         19  luxury condominiums. We had a real problem.  And now

         20  we are able to have help from the Central Park

         21  Conservancy.  In that, we have been put on the

         22  Community Service list so we have crews that come

         23  twice a day to help to come clean that park and we

         24  have people that come on a quarterly basis that

         25  prune and help with the planting of the little
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          2  squares that we have there, it's not a large park,

          3  its a very small park.  But what it is that we would

          4  hope to engender is the same kind of spirit that we

          5  have in Central Park.

          6                 The one thing that I find when we go

          7  in there, people are easy with each other.  They are

          8  able to speak, regardless of races, and classes, and

          9  whatever.  We've met our neighbors. We, as I said,

         10  we started with our help situation there.  I

         11  volunteered several years ago at the Central Park

         12  Conservancy at a time that I needed to make business

         13  and personal decisions.  And I volunteered on

         14  Tuesday mornings, I would go do hard work, it helped

         15  you to have a clear kind of thought of what it is

         16  that you want to do, and I was able to come to some

         17  decisions and I think that was very instrumental in

         18  helping me do that.

         19                 The other thing is that when he do

         20  have a problem, we do feel that there is access to

         21  us.  I am very happy to hear what the disabled

         22  community has to say. I am not disabled, I wouldn't

         23  know that, but I do know that a lot of other things

         24  that need to happen in our community has happened

         25  because we are able to go to them and get expertise.
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          2                 We just received several trees from a

          3  State grant that partners with Central Park to put

          4  them in our neighborhood. We have also completed a

          5  tree count for things that throughout the whole area

          6  from 110th Street to 116th from Eight Avenue to

          7  Fifth Avenue. We have been able to get help from

          8  them, and I am very happy that they are here and I

          9  am happy to be here in support of the things that

         10  they are trying to do in our neighborhood because I

         11  think it has enhanced the neighborhood, and it has

         12  helped us to grow.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you. Stay

         14  there and just if you move over.  Great.  Thank you.

         15                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:    Thank you.

         16  Just for the record, I would like to take a moment

         17  to thank you, Council Member Foster, Chairwoman

         18  Foster, on behalf of New Yorkers for Parks and many

         19  citywide environmental groups, for voting no last

         20  week on the Yankee Plan which was bad for parks and

         21  our environment.  So thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHRISTIAN DIPALERMO:  Good Morning.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  That's how it
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          2  felt on Wednesday, just one lonely clap.

          3                 CHRISTIAN DIPALERMO:  Good Morning.

          4  My name is Christian DiPalermo, and I am the

          5  Executive Director of New Yorkers for Parks, the

          6  citywide watchdog and advocate for all the City

          7  parks, playgrounds and beaches.

          8                 The history of cuts to the Parks

          9  Department is not news to this committee. Since

         10  1986, the DPR's budget has been cut by more than 20

         11  percent decreasing from 277 million dollars in City

         12  funds in 1986, to 212 million dollars in 2006, of

         13  course for adjusting for 2006 dollars.

         14                 These dramatic funding cuts have

         15  resulted in nearly 60 percent decline in staffing

         16  over the same time period from almost 5,000

         17  full-time workers in 1986 to approximately 1950

         18  workers last year.

         19                 As a result, today most of the

         20  maintenance work in our parks is performed by

         21  roaming crews rather than fixed-post staff or zoned

         22  gardeners.

         23                 In response to this decrease in

         24  funds, the Parks Department has developed a number

         25  of innovative programs to mitigate the impact on
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          2  park conditions.  Public-private partnerships,

          3  largely conservancies, are one of the primary

          4  examples of this strategy.

          5                 In the last 25 years, multiple groups

          6  have been created to assist with the management of

          7  City parks, from the Central Park Conservancy to the

          8  Prospect Park Alliance, the Friends of Van Cortlandt

          9  Park and the Greenbelt Conservancy. All of these

         10  organizations work tirelessly to enhance their

         11  individual parks, bringing a higher level of park

         12  maintenance and programming to New Yorkers.

         13                 New Yorkers for Parks supports the

         14  efforts of these groups and applauds their work that

         15  they do for parks and park users.  This influx of

         16  private funding, however, has supplanted, rather

         17  than supplemented, public funding for parks.

         18                 Parks and recreation are a public

         19  services and it is the City's responsibility to

         20  adequately fund maintenance so that every community

         21  has a basic level of service.  A little bit of

         22  Central Park in every neighborhood is what we seek.

         23                 The Parks Department has informally

         24  estimated that approximately 60 million dollars in

         25  private funding is spent on parks each year through
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          2  the efforts of the various conservancies and other

          3  volunteer activities.

          4                 Unfortunately, as I have noted in the

          5  last 20 years, City funds for parks maintenance and

          6  operations have actually dropped by more than 60

          7  million or 25 percent.

          8                 We often hear that the influx of

          9  private money that the City's conservancies provide

         10  allows the Parks Department to spend more time and

         11  money on other parks in the system.  This is simply

         12  not the case.  It seems that the more these

         13  conservancies raise, the less public resources the

         14  Parks Department receives to care for the entire

         15  system.

         16                 In addition, there is no official

         17  accounting mechanism in place that tracks all of the

         18  private resources coming into the system.

         19                 Because of this, we do not have an

         20  accurate assessment of the various levels of service

         21  being provided or distribution of private dollars.

         22                 New Yorkers for Parks calls on the

         23  Council to create a legislative mechanism that would

         24  require any park partner working with the City and

         25  receiving City resources, whether it's staffing,
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          2  funding or work space, to publicly account for the

          3  private money they spend on park maintenance and

          4  capital improvements.

          5                 An accurate accounting will allow for

          6  a more efficient allocation of pubic resources to

          7  parks that are unable to access private resources.

          8                 Without question, New York City is

          9  home to the many of the most influential innovations

         10  in park management and they are often created and

         11  implemented by the public-private park parternships

         12  with are discussing here today.  There are great

         13  opportunities to bring the success of these

         14  partnerships to the rest of the City's parks,

         15  playgrounds and beaches.  We are encouraged, in

         16  particular, by the Central Park Conservancy's

         17  commitment to helping other parks throughout the

         18  City, a goal they have included in their most recent

         19  strategic plan.

         20                 The Central Park Conservancy is also

         21  one of the lead partners, as you heard, in the

         22  Neighborhood Parks Initiative with the Parks

         23  Department and the City Parks Foundation, working to

         24  bring their innovative management strategies to

         25  in-need parks in all five boroughs and raising the
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          2  standard of care for New York City's green spaces.

          3                 As we've heard today, the Parks

          4  Department's staff is largely deployed through

          5  roaming crews.  But we also know, the "jewel" in the

          6  Park's system crown has pioneered a system that

          7  emphasizes fixed staffing instead.  Central Park's

          8  zone management system utilizes individual

          9  accountability as a way to ensure efficiency, cost

         10  effectiveness, worker morale and top-rate park

         11  conditions.

         12                 More effort needs to be given to

         13  expanding programs such as the neighborhood Parks

         14  Initiative that reach into all five boroughs and

         15  have the ability to leverage greater public funding

         16  from these private investments.

         17                 To conclude, New York City's

         18  conservancies provide a valuable service to New

         19  Yorkers by enhancing park services.  They allow for

         20  management innovations, bring additional resources

         21  to park users and raise the standard of care.  The

         22  role of conservancies will likely continue to grow.

         23  Despite this, ultimate management authority must

         24  always lie with the Parks Department.  As a public

         25  agency, it is accountable to the citizens of New
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          2  York City.  Conservancies play an important and

          3  needed role in bringing service enhancements to

          4  individual parks that can then be implemented

          5  throughout the City, but they must be working under

          6  the direction of an adequately funded Parks

          7  Department.

          8                 To that end, today we call for three

          9  things from the City Council.  Adequately fund the

         10  Parks Department, lets put the "public" back in

         11   "public-private partnerships."  I think a great

         12  first step, which I know two Council members up here

         13  support is allowing parks to keep their concession

         14  money.  You heard today that the Conservancy, while

         15  not directly, gets to keep some of their

         16  concessions.  We know across the street, Randall's

         17  Island is having a hearing on a water park that's

         18  going to bring in concessions to that park.  It's

         19  time the whole system gets to keep its concession

         20  money.

         21                 Specifically in Fiscal Year 2007,

         22  Support Neighborhood Parks Initiative with a 1.5

         23  million dollar allocation, which would allow the

         24  innovation of Central Park Conservancy to reach all

         25  five boroughs, and finally, create a mechanism that
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          2  tracks private funding in public parks.  We do it in

          3  schools we should do it for parks.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          5  Before you leave just a couple of questions.  And do

          6  you have -- is there a model, park or agency that

          7  works well in terms of their, for a lack of better

          8  words, scope and designing and keeping in mind the

          9  needs of the disabled, or I mean, or across the

         10  board are we just raggedy.  And I know if we look at

         11  City Hall, I mean it's a shame those cobblestones,

         12  and Giuliani did an excellent job of redesigning so

         13  people would stay out.

         14                 MS. EMERMAN: That has been

         15  unfortunately a pattern. There is supposed to be a

         16  504- ADA coordinator in every agency.  I don't think

         17  there is a commitment to do this.  There should be

         18  every time, whether it's the Department of Parks or

         19  the Conservancy, and I have to say the Conservancy

         20  is a little better at it, start a project even in

         21  the planning process, they should reach out to the

         22  various communities that are going to be impacted by

         23  that plan. The Conservancy did when they were

         24  planning the Great Lawn and the Turtle Pond, had a

         25  couple of meetings over at the National Museum of
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          2  History and then they actually, we had tours,

          3  walking tours in the area, with people in

          4  wheelchairs of various shapes and sizes. They really

          5  made an effort at that time. There seems to be some

          6  backsliding.  I mean it doesn't seem to be part of

          7  the normal process of preceding on a project.  It's

          8  more of a hit and miss. I would have hoped that the

          9  Mayor's office for people with disabilities was more

         10  actively involved in this process and actually took

         11  a lead role in setting up such meetings in their

         12  office.  You know that had been done in the past, it

         13  doesn't seem to be a regular kind of a thing.

         14                 Interestingly enough on the Yankee

         15  Stadium situation, the stadium had a dismal record

         16  of providing accessible positions in the stadium.

         17  Back in the I think the late 70s or 80s even after

         18  the Federal laws were passed, and it took a lawsuit

         19  or a complaint by several individuals.

         20  Interestingly enough, they have now consulted

         21  Eastern Paralyzed Veterans Association or now United

         22  Spinal Association to create the most accessible

         23  stadium. But at a great loss, I mean they certainly

         24  were --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:   Right, they
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          2  pulled all stops to make sure that the Yankee fans

          3  have what they need.

          4                 MS. EMERMAN:  -- They got a lot of

          5  money and they passed a lot around is one thing for

          6  sure.  But it's sad because as you said it could

          7  have been a win-win situation.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you. One

          9  of things we are going to look into is having an

         10  oversight hearing with the Parks Department and just

         11  in general their compliance with the ADA throughout

         12  the parks and their scope and design.

         13                 MS. EMERMAN:  We didn't know, the

         14  community didn't know how bad it was until Alan

         15  Hevesi came out with this report.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right.

         17                 MS. EMERMAN:  I mean, that's just the

         18  last past four years and this was long after the

         19  laws have been passed.  The Parks Department just

         20  neglected its responsibilities to comply.  They may

         21  be getting religious so-to-speak since the report

         22  came out because I think they are making it

         23  interestingly enough on the north end of Union

         24  Square Park where they are going to renovate the

         25  playgrounds and other areas.  They have the
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          2  contracted agency has reached out to us and there is

          3  a meeting later this month in April. So I think you

          4  know they have suddenly been jolted.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Great. Well,

          6  thank you for your work and commitment, and Ms.

          7  Hamlin I was just so encouraged to hear that aspect

          8  of the Conservancy, because often times when you're

          9  talking to people themselves they're like, oh yeah,

         10  yeah, we do a great job, but then you don't hear it

         11  from the community they're like no they don't.  So

         12  that was very encouraging to hear and to see that

         13  all areas of Central Park are included.

         14                 MS. HAMLIN: The one thing though --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  You need to talk

         16  into the mike so we have you on the record. Thank

         17  you.

         18                 MS. HAMLIN:  The one thing that I do

         19  want to say is that it's so wonderful to be able to

         20  have the access and the park is such a wonderful

         21  therapeutic place in our neighborhood.  I see

         22  fathers and they are with their children, we see

         23  mothers all the time, but I see fathers on Sunday.

         24  I see grandparents of all ethnic kinds with their

         25  children, with their grandchildren.  We are able to
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          2  speak to each other.  We are able to be easy with

          3  each other in the park, and that is something we

          4  would like to have for Malcolm X Plaza. And the

          5  other thing is that we can go to them for expertise

          6  and horticulture because we may love gardening we

          7  just don't know how to do it and they have the

          8  expertise and have been able help to us.  We go to

          9  the compost heat to get dirt for our trees, and

         10  whatever.  So it's a great thing if we need to

         11  expand and do better in terms of the disabled and in

         12  terms of other things.  I just think that there is

         13  the framework there to work with us, to make the

         14  park what it needs to be for all citizens, I really

         15  do.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And I appreciate

         17  your enthusiasm and its good that feeling of being

         18  able to go to them is there and that's great. Thank

         19  you.

         20                 MS. HAMLIN: I also would like to

         21  thank you for

         22  your stance for the public to stand with the people

         23  in the Yankee discussion.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, thank

         25  you very much.
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          2                 Christian, what do you -- how --

          3  number one, I think it would be -- I would like us

          4  to work together on the legislation because

          5  especially as we see more of these -- I am trying to

          6  find the politically correct word -- more of these

          7  relationships coming down the pike there needs to be

          8  some transparency in terms of reporting money,

          9  because my concern for example, lets use the Yankee

         10  Stadium Plan with this -- what a surprise -- with

         11  this money that they are talking about park

         12  maintenance, my concern is that if we have this

         13  money for park maintenance then how much is being

         14  reduced at the other end so its not as though its an

         15  addition to whereas its just the bottom line.  So I

         16  would be very interested in how we go forward in

         17  terms of working with us together to create the

         18  legislation so we have those reporting requirements

         19  in place. But as we've talked about Central Park

         20  being a different animal with the other

         21  Conservancies, do you see that same type of

         22  community development or relationship and the

         23  enthusiasm that you have with Ms. Hamlin and the

         24  other --

         25                 MR. DIPALERMO:  Yes, I mean
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          2  specifically out in Prospect Park I think to her

          3  credits specifically is Tupper Thomas has done a

          4  great job out there.  The Green Bill too.  I think

          5  there is reaching out, there is community

          6  involvement with these.  I think that you know

          7  getting down to accountability and the Parks

          8  Department is moving in that direction where they

          9  now can give estimates on the borough level of how

         10  much money is going in so we can account.  We have

         11  to get down to each park.  I mean that is where we

         12  are going is to each park, I think Mr. Blonsky could

         13  easily tell you how much money goes into each one of

         14  his acres.  I don't if we will ever get to that for

         15  our Park's Department, but at least we are going to

         16  get close.  I think Bryant's Park can tell you

         17  exactly what goes into theirs.  It's an

         18  accountability, its better management, it's more

         19  efficient.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  My question with

         21  maintenance, I don't know if you were here, with the

         22  16 million that goes toward Central Park's

         23  Maintenance and agreeing that you can't compare

         24  them, but what is your as the watchdog advocacy

         25  group thoughts on the maintenance portion of the
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          2  Parks Department and their funding?

          3                 MS. DIPALERMO:  The Parks Department

          4  doesn't get funded enough.  We think they need more

          5  money. There is no doubt.  I think that when you

          6  look at Central Park I think its something like

          7  $16,000 an acre, the only estimate you can do for

          8  the entire system gets you to about $5,000 an acre.

          9  Clearly they can put more resources at Central Park,

         10  and it is the jewel, I mean we are never going to

         11  have Central Park in every community, its really

         12  bringing a little bit of Central Park and bringing a

         13  lot of the management skills down to the community

         14  in borough level.  I think that 16 million dollars

         15  allows us to hold up, and it is true, I travel the

         16  country talking about parks and everybody looks to

         17  Central Park, it is the example, so we should be

         18  proud of that. It's really getting those management

         19  skills and figuring out how to get more money to our

         20  Parks Department --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So bottom line,

         22  is we need more funding for the Parks Department?

         23                 MR. DIPALERMO:   We need more funding

         24  for the Parks Department and we need to move towards

         25  the different management which I am happy to hear
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          2  the Parks Department is moving

          3  there which is the "zone manager" but a fixed

          4  position.  We used to have it in the City, it used

          5  to be called the "Park in the Park." What we are

          6  trying to do is get back to that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          8  much.  As I announced when this meeting started, the

          9  speakers office changed this meeting without

         10  notifying me, so Council Member Addabbo I have to

         11  leave now. Council Member Addabbo has agreed to

         12  carry on the meeting. I am going to call the next

         13  panel and let the next panel know I have met with

         14  many of them in private so this is -- so I know what

         15  we are going to talk about and this is going to be

         16  the beginning because I said when I met with you we

         17  are looking to do a hearing to talk about overall

         18  this notion of self- sustaining parks and to make

         19  sure that we are not going toward the privatization

         20  of parks.

         21                 That being said, our next panel is

         22  Robert Stone, Judith Francis, Sandy Balboza, and Roy

         23  Sloane.  And I apologize for leaving, and thank you

         24  very much Council Member Addabbo for doing this.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Good
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          2  afternoon everyone. Thank you for your time here

          3  today.  If you just could please state your name and

          4  give your testimony for the record, I appreciate it.

          5                 MR. SLOANE:  My name is Roy Sloane.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  You could

          7  give your testimony.  We will go right down the

          8  line.

          9                 MR. SLOANE:  Great.  So we should do

         10  our testimony now?  I am sorry.  Thank you very

         11  much.  I very much appreciate the opportunity to

         12  speak today to present my thoughts on Park

         13  Conservancies.  I have a unique perspective being

         14  the leader of efforts to create or reconstruct seven

         15  parks in my role as Cobble Hill Association

         16  president, which is a community in Brooklyn.  I have

         17  also been instrumental in the creation of Brooklyn

         18  Bridge Park, the Brooklyn Bridge Park Coalition,

         19  which is now the Brooklyn Bridge Park Conservancy,

         20  and have also had the opportunity as Chair of the

         21  Brooklyn Bridge Park LDC's Public Affairs Committee

         22  to conduct large scale public planning meetings that

         23  ultimately encompassed over 40 public meeting and

         24  involved thousand of citizens.

         25                 First, let me say that I support the
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          2  concept of Conservancies and strongly believe that

          3  every park in New York City needs and deserves a

          4  group of dedicated to its support and maintenance.

          5  I applaud the tireless efforts of the park

          6  organizations and park volunteers for the

          7  contributions that they have made to our parks.

          8                 Therefore, as one who recognizes the

          9  value and contributions that these organizations

         10  have brought to our public parks and to the public's

         11  enjoyment of them, I also accept the responsibility

         12  for voicing my concerns and offering my suggestions

         13  for protecting the larger public.

         14                 Having been intimately involved in

         15  the creation of a number of parks, I can tell you

         16  that there are two distinct constituencies for every

         17  park: The immediate adjacent neighbors and the

         18  larger or greater public.  Both groups have

         19  legitimate needs and rights.  Some of these are the

         20  same for both groups, but sadly others are in direct

         21  opposition.  In my opinion, immediate adjacent

         22  neighbors are entitled to special consideration and

         23  accommodations due to their proximity to the park

         24  and the impact on quality of like issues and the

         25  need for public access.  But there are important
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          2  benefits for immediate adjacent neighbors also:

          3  Enhanced opportunity to experience and enjoy the

          4  park, greater recreational options, and to be sure

          5  that there is a significant financial benefit.  Park

          6  planners have told me that they generally expect a

          7  25 percent boost in property values for immediate

          8  adjacent properties over time.  This adds up to big,

          9  big, big money.

         10                 This financial difference plus the

         11  desire to control undesirable quality of life

         12  impacts, the desire to improve neighborhood

         13  aesthetics or enhance vistas along with the simple

         14  human desire to control their own turf adds up to a

         15  very powerful force, both political and economic.

         16  This can be a very powerful force for good, but

         17  there is also a negative potential and in the

         18  attempt to limit public access to resist popular

         19  programming, events and recreational activities.  I

         20  have learned that unfortunately exclusiveness by

         21  definition necessitates exclusion.           In

         22  addition, well heeled, politically connected park

         23  organizations can lobby more effectively than under

         24  unrepresented, poorer public parks and that can

         25  result in a higher percentage of public investment
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          2  being spent on parks adjacent to more affluent

          3  communities thereby reducing the funds available for

          4  less affluent communities.  This has the potential

          5  of unfairly shift the benefits to more affluent

          6  citizens.

          7                 For these reasons, I urge the

          8  Committee and the City Council to continue to

          9  exercise the oversight demonstrated here today.  I

         10  think that the Conservancies have a special

         11  obligation to provide the highest possible degree of

         12  public transparency and should submit to regular

         13  public review.  They should be required to hold

         14  regular public meetings, to disclose all fundraising

         15  activities and donations, to disclose all lobbying

         16  activities, and should report regularly to their

         17  local community boards and should be subjected to

         18  rigorous auditing and accounting procedures.  In

         19  addition, I think it might be wise for a Park

         20  Ombudsman's office to be established to specifically

         21  represent the public's interest. Parks belong to all

         22  of the citizens of our City.  The needs of the

         23  greater public must be protected.  It is your job

         24  and it is the responsibility and obligation of

         25  government to protect the public's interest.  We
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          2  certainly don't want government getting out of the

          3  parks business.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you.

          5                 MS. FRANCIS:  Hi, my name is Judith

          6  Francis.  I am the President of the Brooklyn Bridge

          7  Park Defense Fund which is formed to advocate for a

          8  real park, a public park along the waterfront that's

          9  currently derelict in Brooklyn.  I am also a 26 year

         10  resident of Brooklyn. I am not a park expert but I

         11  have served on many boards including the Brooklyn

         12  Children's Advocacy Center, the Brooklyn Children's

         13  Museum, Brooklyn Information Culture, I will go on

         14  and on but a lot of it has to do with children.

         15                 So my remarks today are confined to

         16  one park which has been in development for over 20

         17  years which is the Brooklyn Bridge Park.  As many of

         18  you know, the Brooklyn Bridge Park Coalition which

         19  is the predecessor to this current group called the

         20  Conservancy, was formed in the early 1980s to

         21  prevent the building of highrise condominiums on the

         22  peers in Brooklyn.  This coalition did an incredible

         23  job to advocate for a real park and to raise the

         24  awareness of a park along this stretch.  With the

         25  formation of the local development corporation,
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          2  which my esteem colleague here Roy served tirelessly

          3  in the 1990's, plans for a park really took off. The

          4  LDC generated greater community involvement held

          5  community meetings and hearings on a larger

          6  community basis and that resulted in a master plan

          7  in 2000.  The Brooklyn Bridge Park Coalition renamed

          8  itself to the Conservancy in 2002 and 2003.  The

          9  hopes of the local communities that surround this

         10  spit of land was this Conservancy would really serve

         11  as a greater advocacy group, and there serves lies

         12  of trouble.  That when a Conservancy group as I

         13  think Roy mentioned, is really more responsible to

         14  one neighborhood or people living close and they

         15  have access to wealth, whatever, all of a sudden a

         16  lot of the values and goals of the public park

         17  become co-oped.

         18                 This Conservancy has not represented

         19  the interest of the greater neighborhoods, and what

         20  I would is just point out the things like advocating

         21  for the destruction of landmark buildings within the

         22  area, advocating for the creation of luxury highrise

         23  condominium towers at the each of the parks

         24  entrances blocking the publics entry, privatizing

         25  public land.  You know this idea of pending in parts
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          2  of the peers for kayaking and an enormous marina for

          3  Brooklyn Bridge Park versus the long plan and

          4  greatly desired year- round recreational features

          5  like a pool, a skating rink, indoor fieldhouse.

          6  There's also just been an appalling lack of

          7  transparency in the entire process, again a group

          8  that we thought was going to be advocating for a

          9  park is really just really advocating for we believe

         10  running what will be a very large budget for this

         11  park.

         12                 Chief among the concerns of nine

         13  local associations is this privatization and using a

         14  private organization like the Conservancy to run a

         15  park.  A private Conservancy reports to its own

         16  board it doesn't report to the greater public.  It

         17  has its own leadership, and we believe, or I

         18  believe, and my organization believes, that the

         19  leadership of a park should be the leadership of our

         20  City.  A better administrative model is not to go

         21  and give the Conservancies the power over of a park,

         22  as my colleague in the New York City -- New Yorkers

         23  for parks said "a little bit of private funding to

         24  supplement what the City does so well both

         25  administratively and financially." Rather than
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          2  having just this one private group run a park it

          3  should be elected officials who appoint people and

          4  real park planners as opposed to economic

          5  development corporation functionaires who see parks

          6  really only in terms of their income potential.

          7                 I would like to just close with one

          8  concern with this whole notion of private

          9  development in public parks.  Last week the New York

         10  Post had supplements.  I don't know if anybody saw

         11  this on page 51 there's advertisements for all these

         12  wonderful new highrise condominiums that are going

         13  up in the boroughs and one is called, One Brooklyn

         14  Bridge Park, which is actually a renamed

         15  manufacturing facility, 360 Furman Street which is

         16  now going to be a luxury condo complex.  And what it

         17  says is, "what was once the Jehovah Witnesses'

         18  Distribution Center at 360 Furman Street is becoming

         19  a condo development called One Brooklyn Bridge

         20  Park." Unprecedent having a building, a residential

         21  building inside a public park, but anyway, "with 450

         22  units from studios to five bedroom townhouses, units

         23  will start at about $500,000 and go up to $5.9

         24  million, and offer views of the New York Harbor some

         25  from private terraces."  Residents can also buy
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          2  private River Front Cabanas.  Again, this is a

          3  building inside of a park.  "The Developers will

          4  work with the Brooklyn Bridge Park Development

          5  Corporation to build an adjacent to 85 acre park."

          6  So the developers are helping to build this park,

          7  that is interesting. "Building amenities will

          8  include a garage, a doorman, round- the clock

          9  security- you know so random people don't come

         10  knocking on your door."

         11                 That is an advertisement from the

         12  people who are building inside of our public park.

         13  This is the problem with self sustaining parks.

         14  Private interests are in conflict with public good

         15  when it comes to parks, and this is a scary

         16  phenomenon.  There is a model out there, it has been

         17  suggested by us and many, that as Roy said, people

         18  living close to a park do have the access, they have

         19  greater access.  Their housing prices will be raised

         20  why not charge us, those, and I raise my hand I live

         21  close to this park, why don't you charge us a park

         22  oversight district fee of one percent on my taxes,

         23  it spreads out, it provides money for the park, but

         24  it spreads out the "ownership." And then create an

         25  administrative body that yes, a Conservancy is great
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          2  have them raise funds, I would raise my hand, and

          3  do, I support the Conservancy or had up until the

          4  point where I realized that they weren't really

          5  advocating for a public park they were advocating

          6  for privatization of public park land. But let us

          7  put supplemental money in, don't take the public out

          8  of public parks.  Thanks.

          9                 MS. BALBOZA:  Good afternoon.  Thanks

         10  for holding this hearing.  My name is Sandy Balboza,

         11  President of the Atlantic Avenue Betterment

         12  Association and Atlantic Avenue goes down to the

         13  Brooklyn Bridge Park, so we are located there.

         14                 We see public open space being run

         15  privately as problematic.  In the case of the

         16  proposed Brooklyn Bridge Park, the Brooklyn Bridge

         17  Park Conservancy supports private highrise housing

         18  in a public park.  This use is not compatible with a

         19  park.  There is no housing in Central Park or

         20  Prospect Park or Hudson River Park, or any park.

         21  There will be conflict between park users and condo

         22  owners always.  This is not a position supported by

         23  a large number of local community organizations and

         24  the Atlantic Chapter of the Sierra Club.  Condo

         25  owners -- well condo owners will pay pilots who will
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          2  be paying pilots will claim ownership.

          3                 The Conservancy supports tearing down

          4  the purchase building and existing Art Deco Building

          5  which could have a park related use.  The Community

          6  board too recommended keeping this historic building

          7  for adaptive reuse.  Again the Conservancy is out of

          8  step with the best interest of the community.  When

          9  highrise condos are planned to give income to

         10  support Brooklyn Bridge Park, the costly demolition

         11  of a useful building seems irresponsible.  Also the

         12  Conservancy supported adding 360 Furman Street which

         13  Judy Francis just talked about, supported adding 360

         14  Furman Street to the park originally not included

         15  when it belonged to the Jehovah Witnesses' for

         16  commercial uses.  The building is now slated for

         17  residential use 500 to 700 units, two floors will be

         18  added with a road to service the condo owners.  So

         19  they would put a private road in a public park to

         20  service residential -- any people that live in the

         21  park.  And lets see, the last thing here, the

         22  Brooklyn Bridge Park Conservancy did not support the

         23  20 year public process that the community went

         24  through.  The Conservancy promotes the privatization

         25  of public space.  We believe public parks should be
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          2  dedicated park land which should be supported from

          3  the general tax revenue.  Another idea was put forth

          4  which you know could be, should be explored.  The

          5  original concept for a self- sustaining waterfront

          6  park got hijacked and has become a land grab.

          7  Public parks should be for everyone to enjoy.  Thank

          8  you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Before we get

         10  to Mr. Stone, once again I just want to introduce

         11  and welcome our colleague, Letitia James, thanks for

         12  being here.  Thank you Letitia.

         13                 MR. STONE:  I am Bob Stone, I also

         14  represent the Brooklyn Bridge Park Defense Fund.  I

         15  defer to Judy Francis, she's said it all.  Thank you

         16  for very much.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         18  for Mr. Stone. We did have one other person sign up

         19  and I didn't know if its -- I guess its somewhat

         20  related, Susan Buckley.  Is Susan here?  Can we have

         21  you come up since this will be our last panel, can

         22  you come up and give your testimony and then we will

         23  do questions, so please don't go anywhere anyone.

         24                 MS. BUCKLEY:  Good Morning, I am

         25  Susan Buckley and I am the President of Central Park
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          2  PAWS, which is an advisory group to Central Park to

          3  the Central Park Conservancy made up of dog owners

          4  and Central Park Conservancy Staff.  In a sense, I

          5  am a representative of what Mr. Blonsky described as

          6  the advisory groups, the community advisory groups

          7  who work very closely with the Conservancy.

          8                 We were formed in 1999, in fact I

          9  formed the committee with Mr. Blonsky, to create a

         10  dialogue between dog owners and the Conservancy to

         11  foster a sense of stewardship among dog owners who

         12  are very, very frequent users of the Park, and to

         13  help to work with the Conservancy to help people --

         14  dog owners have a harmonious relationship with the

         15  Conservancy and help the Conservancy understand what

         16  the interests of the dog owners was. The

         17  relationship with the Conservancy has been an

         18  extremely rewarding relationship because as Mrs.

         19  Hamlin said, the Conservancy is extremely accessible

         20  and it creates a human personal relationship within

         21  the park, which is a very difficult thing to find in

         22  a very large City.

         23                 The Conservancy sees the Park as a

         24  community of users not as a green museum which is a

         25  very significant factor that they work constantly
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          2  with the community and they work with us very

          3  successfully.  It gives people through organizations

          4  and the advisory groups such as PAWS or the

          5  Woodlands Group or the sports groups, it gives park

          6  users a chance to participate in the City in a way

          7  that is not easy to find in a metropolis.

          8                 The Conservancy has worked with us

          9  very closely. First of all in maintaining this

         10  dialogue for mutual problem solving, and they

         11  support the activities of PAWS and the other

         12  advisory groups through such factors as a

         13  newsletters, events, the Country Fair which we had

         14  last year which was attended by 6,000 people in the

         15  park.  We work together to solve problems and again

         16  to make a harmonious relationship by, for example

         17  creating woodchip areas for dogs to play in, working

         18  together on signage, understanding fencing areas

         19  that are to be fenced off or not fenced off,

         20  providing trash cans, benches for dog owners to use,

         21  etcetera. And in my experiences, has created a

         22  palpable difference in attitude from hostility which

         23  often existed between dog owners and park personnel

         24  to one of cooperation which is really come about

         25  through the very strong sense of cooperation that
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          2  exists with people with zone gardeners like Regina

          3  Alvarez the people whom we encounter every day in

          4  the park.

          5                 So I would like to thank the

          6  Conservancy for working with us so closely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you Ms.

          8  Buckley. Thank you very much for your time and

          9  testimony.

         10                 Before I get to the questions from

         11  Council Member James, a couple things, number one, I

         12  want to thank all the panel today for their

         13  interests in our City Parks, obviously it is a very

         14  important issue, and I thank you for your interests.

         15                 The Committee will continue to do

         16  oversight obviously on the promotion of the

         17  transparency of the funding for these parks and the

         18  accountability with regards to the parks fundings,

         19  so the Committee looks forward to obviously doing

         20  that. We also, as mentioned earlier, we will do an

         21  oversight on privatization of -- the privatization

         22  issue within our parks so that obviously that is a

         23  future hearing which you know many of the issues

         24  that you have brought up, Ms. Francis will be

         25  addressed there as well.
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          2                 So again we look forward to doing

          3  that as a Committee, and I think the dialogue that

          4  we have here today and in the future is very

          5  important.  Council Member James.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Sure.  This

          7  question is really to my friends over at the

          8  Brooklyn Bridge Park who have spoken in regards to

          9  the Brooklyn Bridge Coalition.  As most of you know

         10  the Brooklyn Bridge Park is not in my district but

         11  it is adjacent to my district, in fact it is about

         12  three blocks out, and I have met with this

         13  organization concerning some of the issues that was

         14  raised.

         15                 So my question is, is there a

         16  partnership agreement currently with the coalition

         17  or currency and parks and recreation?

         18                 JUDITH FRANCIS:  No, there isn't. The

         19  Conservancy is a private group, and they've really,

         20  most of their -- over half of their board members

         21  are actually made of very local people who live

         22  within just blocks of the proposed park.

         23                 They created a neighborhood advisory

         24  council a few years ago and but frankly it was just

         25  limited to individuals that were known to the board
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          2  and so, and I have actually letters from each of the

          3  associations, the Fort Green Association which is in

          4  your district, Carol Gardens, Cobble Hill,

          5  Willowtown, DUMBO, actually withdrawing from the

          6  Conservancy because they, unlike what I think

          7  happens in Central Park, which again that was, it's

          8  a City Park, they put supplemental funds in, they

          9  act as perhaps sometimes a buffer, sometimes you

         10  know if bureaucracy gets too heavy and they don't

         11  let dogs in, you know, and so they act as a buffer

         12  and that sort of came along after the fact which

         13  makes sense, it makes a lot of sense.

         14                 Our concern in Brooklyn is that the

         15  Conservancy that is currently out there, you know

         16  just in name only, could be tapped to run the Park

         17  going forward this could be a new paradigm, and our

         18  concern is that this Conservancy and the way it has

         19  been constructed, it just doesn't represent the

         20  interests of --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So as of right

         22  now, Parks have no relationship legal or otherwise

         23  with this Brooklyn Bridge Park concept.

         24                 JUDITH FRANCIS:  Well, that is a

         25  bigger question. This is a State Park. The land is
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          2  now starting to be bundled together so it can go

          3  over the State and it's the Economic Development

          4  Corporation, not any kind parks, there is no park in

          5  the name of the Economic Development Corporation,

          6  because Councilwoman James, this has not been

          7  designated as a park, a park has to be designated by

          8  an the act of a legislature, and it hasn't been, so

          9  in fact, it is an Economic Development thing despite

         10  being called a park it is not a park.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And as of

         12  right now is there any affordable housing in the  --

         13                 MS. FRANCIS:  No, there are 1250

         14  units planned, condominium units, and the filing and

         15  there was an MOU which we foiled recently between

         16  the 360 Furman Street private developer and the Port

         17  Authority which owned that peer, that the house

         18  unlike what they say it starts at $500,000 it starts

         19  at $665,000 and goes up to 5.9 million dollars in

         20  that one building of 450 units.  But there is no

         21  affordable housing.  You know its just again the

         22  whole idea of housing of any form inside of a park,

         23  inside the borders, not across the street, not

         24  across a highway, but right inside and as the

         25  architect of this park the landscape architect,
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          2  Michael VanBulkenberg was recently quoted, he says

          3   "yes there's housing at the ends and in the middle

          4  of this park."  Right inside.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

          7  Council Member James.  We are dealing with a very

          8  obviously unique situation here in Brooklyn Bridge

          9  Park, and its not to say that its not going anywhere

         10  else throughout the City, it is.

         11                 And I understand last year this

         12  Committee jointly with Waterfronts had a hearing on

         13  this issue of privatizing our public spaces and

         14  parkland, so we will have to revisit that issue once

         15  again.

         16                 So you hit upon a very important

         17  issue not only for that area of Brooklyn but really

         18  for the City because it kind of sorts a trend.  So

         19  we look forward to having that hearing.

         20                 Seeing that there are no other

         21  questions, I thank you again for your time and

         22  testimony today.  Thank you.

         23                 Ladies and Gentleman I really

         24  appreciate your time here today at this Parks

         25  Committee Hearing.
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          2                 This hearing is now adjourned. Thank

          3  you, have a great day.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, FRANCINE ILARIA, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12
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         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              FRANCINE ILARIA
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